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Kost Forer  Gabbay  &  Kasierer  
2 Pal-Yam  Blvd.  Brosh  Bldg.  
Haifa  3309502,  Israel  

Tel: +972-4-8654000 
Fax:  +972-3-5633439  
ey.com 

AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Shareholders of  

MATRIX IT  LTD.   

Regarding the Audit of Components of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
Pursuant to Section 9b(c) to the Israeli Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970 

We have audited the components of internal control over financial reporting of Matrix IT Ltd. and its 

subsidiaries (collectively, "the Company") as of December 31, 2020. Control components were determined as 

explained in the following paragraph. The Company's board of directors and management are responsible for 

maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for their assessment of the effectiveness of 

the components of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying periodic report for 

said date. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's components of internal control over 

financial reporting based on our audit. 

The components of internal control over financial reporting audited by us were determined in conformity 

with Auditing Standard (Israel) 911 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Israel, "Audit of 

Components of Internal Control over Financial Reporting", as amended, ("Auditing Standard (Israel) 911"). 

These components consist of: (1) entity level controls, including financial reporting preparation and close 

process controls and information technology general controls ("ITGCs"); (2) sale process controls; (3) payroll 

process controls; (4) impairment of intangible assets process controls; (5) purchase price allocation process 

controls (collectively, "the audited control components"). 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standard (Israel) 911. That Standard requires that 

we plan and perform the audit to identify the audited control components and obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether these control components have been effectively maintained in all material respects. Our audit 

included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, identifying the audited control 

components, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists regarding the audited control components and 

testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of the audited control components based on the 

assessed risk. Our audit of these control components also included performing such other procedures as we 

considered necessary in the circumstances. Our audit only addressed the audited control components, as 

opposed to internal control over all the material processes in connection with financial reporting and therefore, 

our opinion addresses solely the audited control components. Moreover, our audit did not address any 

reciprocal effects between the audited control components and unaudited ones and accordingly, our opinion 

does not take into account any such possible effects. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 

our opinion within the context described above. 
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Kost Forer  Gabbay  &  Kasierer  
2 Pal-Yam  Blvd.  Brosh  Bldg.  
Haifa  3309502,  Israel  

Tel:  +972-4-8654000  
Fax:  +972-3-5633439  
ey.com  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting as a whole, and specifically 

the components therein, may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of 

effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 

in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, the Company effectively maintained, in all material respects, the audited control 

components as of December 31, 2020. 

We have also audited, in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, the 

consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for each of the three 

years in the period ended December 31, 2020 and our report dated March 10, 2021 expressed an unqualified 

opinion thereon. 

Haifa, Israel

March 10, 2021  

KOST FORER GABBAY  & KASIERER  

A Member  of Ernst & Young Global
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Kost Forer Gabbay & Kasierer Tel: +972-4-8654000 
2 Pal-Yam Blvd. Brosh Bldg. Fax: +972-3-5633439 
Haifa 3309502, Israel ey.com 

AUDITORS'  REPORT  

To the Shareholders of  

MATRIX IT LTD.  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of Matrix IT Ltd. ("the 

Company") as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive 

income, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020. 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's board of directors and management. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We did not audit the financial statements of certain subsidiary, whose assets included in consolidation 

constitute approximately 3.1% of total consolidated assets as of December 31, 2020, and whose revenues 

included in consolidation constitute approximately 1.4% of total consolidated revenues for the year ended 

December 31, 2020. The financial statements of this company were audited by other auditors, whose reports 

have been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to amounts included for those companies, is 

based on the reports of the other auditors. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel, including 

those prescribed by the Auditors' Regulations (Auditor's Mode of Performance), 1973. Those standards require 

that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 

free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 

and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 

significant estimates made by the board of directors and management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 

statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the consolidated financial statements 

referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and its 

subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of their operations, changes in their equity and 

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with International 

Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and with the provisions of the Israeli Securities Regulations (Annual 

Financial Statements), 2010. 

We have also audited, in accordance with Auditing Standard (Israel) 911 of the Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants in Israel, "Audit of Components of Internal Control over Financial Reporting", as 

amended, the Company's components of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 and 

our report dated March 10, 2021 included an unqualified opinion on the effective maintenance of those 

components. 

Haifa, Israel  

March 10, 2021

KOST FORER GABBAY  & KASIERER

A Member  of Ernst & Young Global  
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

    
     
    

      
       

      
   

   
    

      
    

       
     

       
       

     

    

    
    
   

   
     

       
       

      
    

December 31,  
2020  2019  

Note NIS in thousands
ASSETS  

CURRENT ASSETS:  
Cash and cash equivalents  5 644,261  459,288  
Trade receivables  and unbilled receivables, net 6  1,049,994   1,141,224  
Income tax receivables  45,203  46,538  
Other  account  receivables  7 124,089 101,147
Inventories 8  77,121 24,730

1,940,668  1,772,927  

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Investments and other loans  538  1,188

Long term prepaid expenses and trade receivables 6  37,493 40,191  
Right-of-use assets  14 123,684  139,574  
Property, plant  and equipment  9 100,121  75,432  
Goodwill  10  822,214  785,211  
Intangible assets  10  117,052  77,896  
Deferred taxes 17  73,783 69,016  

1,274,885 1,188,508

3,215,553  2,961,435  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

- 5 -



  
 

   
 
 

MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
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December 31,  
2020  2019 

Note NIS in thousands  
LIABILITIES  AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:  
Credit from banks and others 11, 15, 21 349,941 362,888  
Current maturities lease liability 14 58,725  80,411

Trade payables 12 426,360  382,020  
Income taxes payable  8,031 10,406  
Other  accounts payable  13 61,051 63,627  
Employees and payroll accruals   363,365 313,746
Liabilities  in respect of  business combinations  3  4,356  3,692  
Put options of non-controlling interests  3 68,261 71,193  
Deferred revenues 251,176  209,572  

1,591,266 1,497,555  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Loans from banks and others 15, 21 537,073 506,760  
Deferred revenues  53,454  21,686  
Put options of non-controlling interests 3 45,095  38,986  
Lease liabilities 14  69,084  64,463  
Deferred taxes  17  59,380 53,508  
Liabilities  in respect of  business combinations  3  4,870  9,019  
Employee  benefit  liabilities  16  30,419  28,924  

799,375  723,346

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY: 19  
Share capital and capital reserves  331,735  337,385  
Retained earnings  444,573 395,160  

776,308 732,545

Non-controlling interests  48,604  7,989

TOTAL EQUITY  824,912 740,534 

3,215,553 2,961,435

The accompanying notes are an integral part of  the consolidated financial statements.

March 10, 2021

Date of approval of the

financial  statements  

Guy Bernstein  

Chairman of  the Board  

Moti Gutman  

Chief Executive Officer   

Moshe Attias  

Chief Financial Officer  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME  

Year ended December 31,  
2020 2019  2018 

Note  NIS in thousands (except  per share data)  

Revenues  22a  3,854,041 3,596,295 3,168,025 
Cost of revenues  22b  3,291,050 3,078,395   2,702,965 

Gross profit  562,991 517,900 465,060 
Selling and marketing expenses  22c  122,072 115,844 103,159 
General and administrative expenses  22d  151,786 147,313 141,323 

Operating income  289,133   254,743 220,578   
Financial expenses  22e  42,202   41,793   30,368   
Financial income  22e -  489 1,325   
Company's share in gains of  associated 

companies  -  90 17   

Income before taxes on income  246,931   213,529   191,552   
Taxes on income  17   56,081   46,620   47,309   

Net income  190,850   166,909   144,243   

Other  comprehensive income (net of  tax effect):  
Amounts that will not be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or  loss:  
Actuarial gain from defined benefit plans   1,712   284  1,013   
 Amounts that will be or  that have been 

reclassified to profit or loss when specific 
conditions are met:  
Foreign currency translation adjustments (21,316) (21,444)   15,832   

Total comprehensive income  171,246  145,749  161,088  

Net income attributable to:  
Equity holders of the Company  172,596   159,053   138,322   
Non-controlling interests  18,254   7,856   5,921   

190,850  166,909  144,243  

Total comprehensive income attributable to:  

Equity holders of the Company  153,128   137,962   155,167   
Non-controlling interests  18,118   7,787   5,921   

171,246  145,749  161,088  

Net earnings per  share attributable to equity 
holders of the Company (in NIS):  23  
Basic net  income  2.78  2.57   2.24   

Diluted net  income  2.74  2.54   2.23   

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

Attributed  to  the  Company's shareholders 

Issued 
share  

capital  
Share  

premium  
Treasury  

shares  
Retained  
earnings  

Foreign  
currency  

translation
reserve  

Reserve-
Transaction  

With  a  
Controlling  

 Shareholder  

Reserve  from  
share-based  
payment  and  
liabilities in  
respect of 

 options to  NCI  Total  

Non-
controlling  

interests  
Total  
equity  

NIS  in  thousands  

Balance as of January  1,  2020  67,194  290,282  (7,982)  395,160  (22,260)  10,186  (35)  732,545  7,989  740,534  

Net income  - - - 172,596   - - - 172,596   18,254   190,850   
Foreign  currency  translation  reserve  - - - - (21,180)  - - (21,180)  (136)  (21,316)  
Actuarial gain  from  defined  benefit  

plans  - - - 1,712   - - - 1,712   - 1,712   

Total other comprehensive  gain  (loss)  - - - 1,712   (21,180)  - - (19,468)  (136)  (19,604)  

Total comprehensive  income  - - - 174,308   (21,180)  - - 153,128   18,118   171,246   
Exercise  of employee  phantom  

options  51   2,772   - - - - (2,823)  - - - 
Acquisition  of non-controlling  

interests  - - - - - - 7,904   7,904   33,551   41,455   
Dividend  paid  - - - (124,895)  - - - (124,895)  - (124,895)  
Dividend  to  non-controlling  interests  - - - - - - - - (11,054)  (11,054)  
Share-based  payment  - - - - - - 7,626   7,626   - 7,626   

Balance  as  of December  31,  2020  67,245  293,054  (7,982)  444,573  (43,440)  10,186  12,672  776,308  48,604  824,912  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Issued 
share  

capital
Share  

premium  
Treasury  

shares  
Retained  
earnings  

Foreign  
currency  

translation  
reserve  

Reserve-
Transaction  

With  a  
Former  

Controlling  
 Shareholder  

Reserve  from  
share-based  
payment and  
liabilities in  
respect of 

options to  NCI   Total  

Non-
controlling  

interests  
Total  
equity  

NIS  in  thousands  

Balance  as of January  1,  2019  66,788  283,536  (7,982)  360,964  (885)  10,186  (4,294)  708,313  6,115  714,428  

Cumulative  effect of  initial 
application  of IFRS  16  as of 
January  1,  2019  (see  Note 2c'1)  - - - (9,042)  - - - (9,042)  - (9,042)  

Balance  as of January  1,  2019  (after 
initial application  of IFRS  16)  66,788  283,536  (7,982)  351,922  (885)  10,186  (4,294)  699,271  6,115  705,386  

Net income  - - - 159,053  - - - 159,053  7,856  166,909  

Foreign  currency  translation  reserve - - - - (21,375)  - - (21,375)  (69)  (21,444)  
Actuarial gain  from  defined  benefit

plans  - - - 284  - - - 284  - 284  

Total other comprehensive  gain  (loss)  - - - 284  (21,375)  - - (21,091)  (69)  (21,160)  

Total comprehensive  income  - - - 159,337  (21,375)  - - 137,962  7,787  145,749  
Exercise  of employee  phantom  

options  406  6,746  - - - - (7,152)  - - - 
Acquisition  of non-controlling  

interests  - - - - - - 2,796  2,796  - 2,796  
Non-controlling  interests arising  from  

initially  consolidated  companies  - - - - - - - - 362  362  
Dividend  paid  - - - (116,099)  - - - (116,099)  - (116,099)  
Dividend  to  non-controlling  interests  - - - - - - - - (6,275)  (6,275)  
Share-based  payment  - - - - - - 8,615  8,615  - 8,615  

Balance  as  of December  31,  2019  67,194  290,282  (7,982)  395,160  (22,260)  10,186  (35)  732,545  7,989  740,534  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of  the consolidated financial statements.  
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 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
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Issued 
share  

capital
Share  

premium
Treasury  

shares  
Retained
earnings

Foreign  
currency  

translation  
reserve  

Reserve-
Transaction  

With  a  
Former  

Controlling  
Shareholder  

Reserve  from  
share-based  
payment and  
liabilities in  
respect of 

 options to  NCI  Total  

Non-
controlling  

 interests  
Total  
equity  

NIS in thousands 

Balance as of January 1, 2018 66,389 280,261 (7,982) 324,016 (16,717) 10,186 (6,760) 649,393 4,096 653,489 

Net income - - - 138,322 - - - 138,322 5,921 144,243 

Foreign currency translation reserve - - - - 15,832 - - 15,832 - 15,832 
Actuarial gain from defined benefit 

plans - - - 1,013 - - - 1,013 - 1,013 

Total other comprehensive gain - - - 1,013 15,832 - - 16,845 - 16,845 

Total comprehensive income - - - 139,335 15,832 - - 155,167 5,921 161,088 
Exercise of employee phantom 

options 399 3,275 - - - - (3,674) - - -
Dilution arising from exercise of 

Subsidiary options - - - - - - 2,779 2,779 391 3,170 
Acquisition of non-controlling 

interests - - - - - - (2,248) (2,248) (1,515) (3,763) 
Dividend paid - - - (102,387) - - - (102,387) - (102,387) 
Dividend to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - (2,778) (2,778) 
Share-based payment - - - - - - 5,609 5,609 - 5,609 

Balance as of December 31, 2018 66,788 283,536 (7,982) 360,964 (885) 10,186 (4,294) 708,313 6,115 714,428 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 



  
 

   

 
 

 

   
       
   

        
       

       

       

 
 

     
       

         
       

       
       

         
        

        
          

  
 

  
     

   
 

  
     

       
       

     

       
       

       
       

         
         

       
        

   
   

  
     

       
       

        
       

       
       

        

       
       

       

       

 

 

  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
  

 

  

  

  
  

  

  

  

  
  

 

  

  

MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Year ended December 31, 
2020 2019 2018 

NIS in thousands 
Cash flows from operating activities: 

Net income 190,850 166,909 144,243 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided 
by operating activities: 

Adjustments to the profit or loss items: 

Depreciation and amortization 124,766 123,977 30,752 
Taxes on income 56,081 46,620 47,309 
Change in employee benefit liabilities 1,525 (1,097) 2,874 
Other financial expenses, net 37,846 39,230 449 
Revaluation of long-term loans from banks 62 168 903 
Company's share of gains of associated companies - (90) (17) 
Revaluation of liabilities in respect of business 

combinations  (3,422) 954 2,509 
Capital loss (gain) from sale of property, plant and 

equipment 257 (9) 5 
Share-based payment 7,364 8,464 5,609 
Increase in value of put options of non-controlling interests 

3,771 8,083 13,865 

228,250 226,300 104,258 

Changes in asset and liability items: 

Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 121,895 (10,544)  (180,097) 
increase in other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses  (4,310) (12,692)  (8,260) 
increase in inventories  (37,748) (3,342)  (3,680) 
Increase (Decrease) in trade payables 30,961 (40,765) 91,793 
Increase in employee benefit liabilities, deferred revenues 

and other accounts payable 93,237 51,695 38,825 

204,035 (15,648)  (61,419) 

Cash paid and received during the year for: 

Interest paid  (22,627) (25,689)  (10,798) 
Taxes paid  (91,472) (91,940)  (66,127) 

Taxes received 26,141 3,509 14,392

 (87,958) (114,120)  (62,533) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 535,177 263,441 124,549 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Year ended December 31,  
2020  2019  2018  

NIS in thousands  
Cash flows from  investing activities:  

Proceeds  from sale of property, plant  and equipment  2,262   2,944   1,583

Purchase of  property, plant  and equipment  (36,440)  (33,370)  (31,052)

Purchase  of intangible assets  (143)  (15,445)   - 

Repayment of  loan by associate  -  133   92

Acquisition of  initially consolidated subsidiaries  (a)  (29,458)  (77,638)  (88,466)

Investment in long-term deposits  -  (177)  1,850

Investment in  Other Company  -  (634) -

Net cash provided by (used in)  investing activities  (63,779)  (124,187)  (115,993)   

Cash flows from  financing activities:  

Change  in short-term credit from banks and other credit  

providers, net  (101,997)  (175,168)  (72,991)   
Receipts of  long-term loans from banks  and others  280,000   260,000   300,000   
Repayment of  long-term loans from banks  and others  (197,111)  (178,361)  (84,605)   
Dividend paid (124,895)  (116,099)  (102,387)   
Repayment of  liabilities in respect of business 

combinations  (11,308)  (6,403)  (12,844)   
Acquisition  of Non-controlling interests  - - (3,983)   
Repayment of  capital  lease  obligation  (75,554)  (82,380) -  
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests  (22,156)  (10,743)  (16,323)   
Repayment of  liabilities in respect of  non-controlling 

interests options  (10,377)   (3,349)  (500)  

Net cash  provided by  (used in)  financing activities  (263,398)   37,833   6,367   

Exchange  rate  differences on balances of  cash and cash

equivalents  (23,027)  (22,832)   13,113

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 184,973   154,255   28,036

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of  the year  459,288   305,033   276,997

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of  the year  644,261  459,288  305,033  

 

 

 

  

 

  

  

MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

   

 

 

   
   
   

   
   
 

  
    
    
    
    
   

Year ended December 31,  
2020  2019 2018  

NIS in thousands  
(a)  Acquisition of initially consolidated subsidiaries:  

The subsidiaries' assets and liabilities at date of  

acquisition: 

Working capital (excluding cash and cash equivalents) (18,527)   26,072   2,055   
Right-of-use assets  (8,005)   (2,900) -  
Property, plant  and equipment  (23,107)  (6,963)  (875)   
Deferred taxes  (3,696)   -  -  
Goodwill   (46,431) (102,056)    (*   (93,907)   
Intangible assets  (57,406)  (53,577)    (*   (25,647)   
Other  short-term liabilities  36,500   20,079  -  
Employee  benefit  liabilities  2,194   5,379   156   
Deferred taxes  14,157   12,748   (*6,428  
Liability to previous controlling shareholder  1,693   230   7,528   
Liability of put options to non-controlling interests  61,238   19,700   1,933   
Non-controlling interests  465   362   104   
Lease liabilities  8,005   3,288  - 
Liability in respect of  business combinations  3,462   -    13,758 

 (29,458)  (77,638)  (88,466)  

(b)  Significant non-cash transactions:  

Right-of-use asset recognized  with  corresponding  lease 

liability  58,458  236,493  - 

58,458  236,493  - 

   
   
   
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

    
    

 

   
   
 

  
     
     

 

 

     

 

 

  

 

*) Immaterial adjustment of comparative data - see Note 3 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO  CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

NOTE 1:- GENERAL 

a.	 Matrix IT Ltd. ("the Company") was incorporated in Israel and began its business 

operations on September 12, 1989. The Company is considered an Israeli resident. The 

company is a public company, traded on Tel- Aviv stock Exchange. The Company's 

registered address is 3 Abba Even Boulevard, Herzliya, Israel. The controlling shareholder 

of the Company is Formula Systems (1985) Ltd. ("Formula Systems"), which is controlled 

by Asseco Poland S.A., a Polish public company, traded on the Warsaw Stock Exchange 

and by Mr. Guy Bernstein (see regulation 21(a) – in chapter Other company details). 

The company operates in five operating segments as follows (see additional details in note 

25): 

1.	 Information Technologies (IT) Software solutions and services, Consulting & 

Management in Israel. 

2.	 Information Technologies (IT) Software solutions and services in USA. 

3.	 Software product marketing and support. 

4.	 Cloud infrastructure, and computer solutions. 

5.	 Training and implementation. 

b.	 Definitions: 

In these financial statements: 

The Company - Matrix  IT  Ltd.  

The Group - The Company and its affiliate companies  

Subsidiaries - Companies that  are controlled by the Company (as  defined in  

IFRS 10)  and whose  accounts are consolidated with those  of  the  

Company.  

Associates - Companies in  which the Company has  significant  influence and  

that  are not  subsidiaries. The Company's investment  therein is  

accounted  for  in  the consolidated financial  statements of  the 

Company using the  equity  method.  

Affiliates companies - Subsidiaries and associates.   

The parent company - Formula Systems (1985) Ltd.  

The ultimate parent  

company 
 
 
- Asseco Poland S.A.
 

Interested parties  and 

controlling shareholder  

- As defined in the Israeli  Securities Regulations (Annual  

Financial  Statements), 2010.  

Related parties - As defined in IAS 24.  
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1:- GENERAL (CONT.) 

c. Impact of the Corona Crisis 

The ongoing  corona  crisis,  which  at  the time of  writing is still  unclear  in its full  scope,  

duration and economic impacts, has  adversely affected the Israeli  and global  economy and  

consequently  also hurt  IT market  demand, which may lead to deepening  cuts,  due to  

customers'  need to save and  caution.  According to  IDC's forecast,  a decrease  of  about  0.6%  

in the IT market is expected in 2020 compared to 2019 (in April 2020 the forecast was for  

a decrease of 7.4% and in November  for  a decrease of about  3.7%).  

Impact of  the crisis on the results of operations during and after the reporting period:  

Despite the crisis, the company's revenues in Israel grew by about 8.8%.  

At  the time  of  writing, the  direct  effects  on  the results  of  the  Company's and its business  

activities  are more noticeable in US operations and less  so in Israel, but  these  effects are  

currently assessed as  insignificant.  

The company has little exposure to customers in industries  that  were directly and materially  

affected by the crisis, such as  the aviation industry,  the fashion industry, the tourism  

industry and the  hotel  industry. However, it  is estimated that  the corona crisis may  

ultimately  have  a negative  impact  on  other  industries  (with varying degrees of  severity  

from  industry to industry)  and as  a result  may also lead to an impact  on IT market  demand,  

as outlined above.  

As of  the date of  the report, the company, together  with its customers, continues  to work  

from  home,  in  combination  with work from  the  office,  all  in accordance with the various  

instructions and restrictions that are published from  time to time.  

With the exception of  the training and implementation  segment  (which constitutes  

approximately 3.9%  of  the Company's  revenues),  the rest  of  the  Company's  operating 

segments were not  materially affected by the crisis, with some even increasing activity as  

a result  of  customers'  need to prepare for  work from  home in a short  time. , Cloud services  

and information security, as well  as accelerating projects in the fields of  health,  digital,  

cyber and command and control.  

The training and implementation  sector, which has been directly and materially affected by  

the crisis, is expected to continue to be affected at  least  until  all  educational  institutions are  

reopened,  and it  is possible to teach frontally and fully  occupied.  

As of  this date, almost  all  of  the company's employees  work as usual,  in a  work format  in  

a hybrid model  (a combination of  work from  home and  the office)  while at  the same time  

the company is working to reduce real estate and save on operating costs.  

However, since this is an event  that  is not  controlled by the company and due to the nature  

of  the crisis, characterized  by dynamism  and  uncertainty, including the  date when the  

epidemic  will  be completely halted, at  this  time there is no  certainty regarding  the duration  

of  the crisis and its impact  on the economy. The markets, the economic situation in Israel  

and in the world, the extent  of  unemployment, government  actions and fears of  developing  

a situation of  local  and /  or  global  recession. This situation raises  concerns and caution,  

which are  accompanied  by  streamlining measures  and cuts for  some  of  the  company's  

customers, which could harm the company's financial  results.  

Such horizontal  effects, if  and to the extent  that  they  materialize, in whole or  in part, may  

affect  the Company's business and its results, including materially, and the Company 

cannot assess whether there will be such harm and what its scope will be.   
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1:- GENERAL (CONT.)
 

c. Impact of the Corona Crisis (Cont.) 

   

 

 

  

In  light  of  the concerns,  the atmosphere  is characterized  by caution  on  the part  of  customers,  

including making decisions  regarding the continuation  of  projects or  entering large-scale  

projects, regarding the acquisition of  new IT systems and /  or  expanding /  upgrading  

existing systems, and even streamlining measures,  including reducing staff, recruiting  

employees  by its customers, tariff  reductions and customer  cuts, which are reflected in  

pressures on the company's tariffs.  

Accordingly, the company adopts a conservative and prudent  policy regarding the  

management  of  its business  on  the one hand  and  initiates  innovative solutions to the  

changing needs of  its customers on the other.  

Also, forecasts regarding  significant  cuts  in  the planned  government  budget  due  to  the costs  

of  the corona crisis, as well  as possible political  instability on the one hand, along  with the  

expectation of  more tenders and transactions and increase  in government  sector  demand 

with government  budget  approval  (compared to "1/12 budget"  Which has  been so  far)  on  

the other  hand, may  have mixed effects on  the company's business in the  government  

sector.  

The Company's management  regularly and closely monitors the economic developments  

in the Company's business and  acts accordingly. In the Company's estimation,  

cumulatively,  these processes  may  have a  mixed impact  on its operations,  the exact  scope  

of which cannot  be estimated at  this date.  

In a scenario where there is a further  outbreak of  the virus and /  or  aggravation in  the  

directives of  the  Ministry  of  Health, it  may  lead  to  an expansion  of  harm  to the Israeli  

economy, including the company's customers, suppliers, business  partners and employees,  

and consequently direct  harm  to the company's revenues  and business  results.  Also, a  

certain trend of  economic uncertainty in the U.S. economy and exacerbation of  the extent  

of  corona proliferation in the U.S. may exacerbate the impact  on the U.S.  economy, affect  

U.S. IT market demand, and as a result may hurt U.S. corporate business.  

Aspects of liquidity, financial condition and sources of  financing  

As of  the date of  the report, the company estimates  that  its financial  strength, cash flow  

(approximately NIS 535 million in the year  of  the report), its leverage  rate and the wide  

industry distribution of its customers will enable it to adequately deal with the crisis. High  

cash and credit facilities for  utilization on  a significant scale [see section  13 in the chapter  

"Description of  the corporation business"  in the Company's periodic report  as  of  December  

31, 2020  (the "Periodic  Report")]. The Company  has  no encumbered assets and does  not  

anticipate changes in their  financial criteria. She pledged.  

On April 1, 2020 (in the midst of  the crisis), Midroog confirmed a stable Aa3 issuer  rating  

to the company.  

Most  of  the company's credit  is for  the long term  (including a loan of  NIS 200 million taken  

in March 2020)  and therefore,  as  of  the date of  the  report,  the company  estimates that  it  

will  not  need to raise  credit  until  the end of 2021.  

During the second quarter, the company repaid most of its short-term  credit and converted  

approximately NIS 80 million of  it  into long-term  credit. The "net"  debt  ratio was  

approximately 7.5% at the end of  2020.  
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1:- GENERAL (CONT.) 

   

 

  

 

    

       

    

 

 

       

    

      

 

 

           

       

  

 

  
 

   

 

    
 

       

 

 

   

      

 

  

 

       

       

   

 

     

   

 

  

 

        

  

 

  

d. Significant events during the period 

In January 2020, a transaction was completed, in which the company exercised the 

minorityCall option and acquired an additional 40% of the share capital of Nertwork 

Infrastructure Technologies (NIT) for $ 4.5 million (approximately NIS 15.3 million) and 

increased the holding of 100% of the company's share capital. . 

In January 2020, the mutual options for the purchase of 49.9% of the share capital of 

Babcom Centers Ltd. were canceled, the Put option to the minority was canceled in the 

amount of NIS 24,178 thousand and NIS 26,246 thousand was set aside for non-controlling 

interests. 

In October 2020, the mutual options for the purchase of 40%Put/Call Optionsof the share 

capital of Matrix B.I. were revoked that amounted NIS 13,375 thousand, and NIS 2,740 

thousand was set aside for non-controlling interests. 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

a. Basis of presentation of the financial statements: 

1. Basis of preparation of the financial statements: 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). 

Furthermore, the financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the 

provisions of the Israeli Securities Regulations (Annual Financial Statements), 2010. 

2. Measurement basis: 

The Group's financial statements have been prepared on a cost basis, except for 

assets and liabilities in respect of certain financial instruments at fair value through 

profit or loss . 

The Group has elected to present the statement of comprehensive income using the 

function of expense method. 

3. Consistent Accounting Policies 

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in the financial 

statements for all periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

   

 

         

  

 

  

 

         

        

  

 

 

 

	

	

	

	

		 

 

  

 

           

      

        

     

      

  

 

  

 

        

     

 

   

 

   

         

    

         

           

  

        

        

 

  

 

   

 

     

        

       

      

     

 

 

 

 

  

	 b.	 Significant accounting judgments estimates, and assumptions used in the preparation of the 

financial statements 

Judgements: 

In the process of applying the significant accounting policies, the Group has made the 

following judgements which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in 

the financial statements: 

- Classification of leases- the Group as lessor: 

In order to determine whether to classify a lease as a finance lease or an operating 

lease, the Group evaluates whether the lease transfers substantially all the risks and 

benefits incidental to ownership of the leased asset. In this respect, the Group 

evaluates such criteria as the existence of a bargain purchase option, the lease term 

in relation to the economic life of the asset and the present value of the minimum 

lease payments in relation to the fair value of the asset. 

- Recognizing revenue on a gross or net basis: 

In cases where the Group acts as agent or broker bearing the risks and rewards 

derived from the transaction, revenue is presented on a gross basis. 

- Discount rate for a lease liability: 

When the Company is unable to readily determine the discount rate implicit in a 

lease in order to measure the lease liability, the Company uses an incremental 

borrowing rate. That rate represents the rate of interest that the Company would have 

to pay to borrow over a similar term and with similar security, the funds necessary 

to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 

environment. When there are no financing transactions that can serve as a basis, the 

Company determines the incremental borrowing rate based on its credit risk, the 

lease term and other economic variables deriving from the lease contract's conditions 

and restrictions. In certain situations, the Company is assisted by an external 

valuation expert in determining the incremental borrowing rate. 

- Determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations: 

In order to determine the timing of recognizing revenues from contracts with 

customers at a point in time or over time, the Company evaluates the date of transfer 

of control over the assets or services promised in the contracts. Among others, the 

Company evaluates whether the customer obtains control of the asset at a specific 

point in time or consumes the economic benefits associated with the contract 

simultaneously with the Company's performance. In determining the timing of 

revenue recognition, the Company also considers the provisions of applicable laws 

and regulations. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

b.	 Significant accounting judgments estimates, and assumptions used in the preparation of the 

financial statements (Cont.) 

   

 

  

 

       

       

     

    

  

 

     

    

    

  

 

 

 

	

	

	

		 

	

		 

   

 

    

   

         

        

   

   

 

  

 

       

      

         

      

  

 

 

 

  

       

     

    

    

  

 

 

 

      

    

        

     

    

Estimates and assumptions: 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that have an effect on the application of the accounting policies and on the 

reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These estimates and 

underlying assumptions are reviewed regularly. Changes in accounting estimates are 

reported in the period of the change in estimate. 

The key assumptions made in the financial statements concerning uncertainties at the end 

of the reporting period and the critical estimates computed by the Group that may result in 

a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 

financial year are discussed below. 

- Legal claims: 

In estimating the likelihood of outcome of legal claims filed against the Company 

and its investees, the companies rely on the opinion of their legal counsel. These 

estimates are based on the legal counsel's best professional judgment, taking into 

account the stage of proceedings and legal precedents in respect of the different 

issues. Since the outcome of the claims will be determined in courts, the results could 

differ from these estimates. 

- Impairment of goodwill: 

The Group reviews goodwill for impairment at least once a year. This requires 

management to make an estimate of the projected future cash flows from the 

continuing use of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated and also 

to choose a suitable discount rate for those cash flows. (See additional information 

in p below). 

- Deferred tax assets: 

Deferred tax assets are computed regarding unused carryforward tax losses and 

temporary differences that were not utilized to the extent that their utilization is 

probable. Management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax 

assets that can be recognized, based upon the timing and level of expected future 

taxable profits, its source and the tax planning strategy. See additional information 

in r below. 

- Pension and other post-employment benefits: 

The liability in respect of post-employment defined benefit plans is determined using 

actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about, 

among others, the discount rate, future salary increases and forfeiture rates. The 

carrying amount of the liability may be highly sensitive out of changes in these 

estimates. See additional information in t below. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

b.	 Significant accounting judgments estimates, and assumptions used in the preparation of the 

financial statements (Cont.) 

- Determining the fair value of share-based payment transactions: 

The fair value of share-based payment transactions is determined using an acceptable 

option-pricing model. The inputs to the model include share price, exercise price, 

expected volatility, expected life and expected dividend. 

- Determining the fair value of non-controlling interests put option: 

When the Group measures the non-controlling interests in a business combination at 

fair value, the Group determines the fair value based on a valuation technique, 

generally the discounted cash flow method. 

- Measuring the progress toward satisfaction of a performance obligation: 

For each transaction in which the performance obligation is satisfied over time, the 

Company applies an appropriate method of measuring progress toward satisfaction 

of the performance obligation using either an input or output method. In determining 

the appropriate method, the Company considers the nature of the goods or services 

transferred to the customer. In calculating the rate of progress toward satisfaction of 

a performance obligation in each period, the Company will make various estimates, 

such as expected volume of outputs from the contract, expected volume of inputs 

used in fulfilling the contract, etc. The Company exercises judgement in establishing 

the relevant estimates and relies, among others, on market data, the Company's past 

experience and other facts and assumptions based on the relevant circumstances of 

each estimate. 

- Lease extension and/or termination options: 

In evaluating whether it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise an 

option to extend a lease or not exercise an option to terminate a lease, the Company 

considers all relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive for 

the Company to exercise the option to extend or not exercise the option to terminate 

such as: significant amounts invested in leasehold improvements, the significance of 

the underlying asset to the Company's operation and whether it is a specialized asset, 

the Company's past experience with similar leases, etc. 

After the commencement date, the Company reassesses the term of the lease upon 

the occurrence of a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that 

affects whether the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an option or not 

exercise an option previously included in the determination of the lease term, such 

as significant leasehold improvements that had not been anticipated on the lease 

commencement date, sublease of the underlying asset for a period that exceeds the 

end of the previously determined lease period, etc. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

c. Consolidated financial statements: 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of companies that 

are controlled by the Company (subsidiaries). Control exists when a company has the 

power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity. The 

effect of potential voting rights that are exercisable at the end of the reporting period is 

considered when assessing whether an entity has control. The consolidation of the financial 

statements commences on the date on which control is obtained and ends when such control 

ceases. 

The financial statements of the Company and of the Subsidiaries are prepared as of the 

same dates and periods. The accounting policies in the financial statements of the 

Subsidiaries have been applied consistently and uniformly with those applied in the 

financial statements of the Company. Significant intragroup balances and transactions and 

gains or losses resulting from intragroup transactions are eliminated in full in the 

consolidated financial statements. 

Non-controlling interests of Subsidiaries represent the non-controlling shareholders' share 

of the total comprehensive income (loss) of the Subsidiaries and their share of the net assets 

at fair value upon the acquisition of the Subsidiaries. The non-controlling interests are 

presented in equity separately from the equity attributable to the equity holders of the 

Company. Losses are attributed to non-controlling interests even if they result in a negative 

balance of non-controlling interests in the consolidated statements of financial position. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted 

for as a change in equity by adjusting the carrying amount of the non-controlling interests 

with a corresponding adjustment of the equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 

less / plus the consideration paid or received. 

d. Functional currency, presentation currency and foreign currency: 

1. Functional currency and presentation currency: 

The presentation currency of the financial statements is the NIS. 

The Group determines the functional currency of each Group entity, including 

companies accounted for at equity. 

Assets, including fair value adjustments upon acquisition, and liabilities of an 

investee which is a foreign operation, are translated at the closing rate at each 

reporting date. Comprehensive income items are translated at average exchange rates 

for all periods presented. The resulting translation differences are recognized in other 

comprehensive income (loss). 

Intragroup loans for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the 

foreseeable future are, in substance, a part of the investment in the foreign operation 

and, accordingly, the exchange rate differences from these loans (net of the tax 

effect) are recorded, net of the tax effect, in other comprehensive income (loss). 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

Upon the full or partial disposal of a foreign operation resulting in loss of control in 

the foreign operation, the cumulative gain (loss) from the foreign operation which 

had been recognized in other comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss. 

Upon the partial disposal of a foreign operation which results in the retention of 

control in the subsidiary, the relative portion of the amount recognized in other 

comprehensive income is reattributed to non-controlling interests. 

2. Transactions, assets and liabilities in foreign currency: 

Transactions denominated in foreign currency are recorded on initial recognition at 

the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. After initial recognition, monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated at the end of 

each reporting period into the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. 

Exchange differences, other than those capitalized to qualifying assets or recorded 

in equity in hedging transactions, are recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at cost in a foreign currency 

are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets 

and liabilities denominated in foreign currency and measured at fair value are 

translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the date 

when the fair value was determined. 

3. Index-linked monetary items: 

Monetary assets and liabilities linked to the changes in the Israeli Consumer Price 

Index ("Israeli CPI") are adjusted at the relevant index at the end of each reporting 

period according to the terms of the agreement. 

e. Cash equivalents: 

Cash equivalents are considered as highly liquid investments, including unrestricted short-

term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less from the date of 

investment or with a maturity of more than three months, but which are redeemable on 

demand without penalty and which form part of the Group's cash management. 

f. Short-term deposits: 

Short-term deposits are bank deposits, with an original maturity period of more than three 

months from the investment date which do not meet the definition of cash equivalents. The 

deposits are presented according to their terms of deposit. 

g. Allowance for doubtful accounts: 

The allowance for doubtful accounts is determined in respect of specific trade receivables
 
whose collection, in the opinion of the Group's management, is doubtful.
 
The Company did not  recognize  an allowance  in respect  of  groups of  trade  receivables  that 


are collectively assessed for impairment  due to immateriality.
 
   
Impaired receivables are derecognized when they are assessed as uncollectible. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

h. Inventories: 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of 

inventories comprises costs of purchase and costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 

their present location and condition. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in 

the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated 

costs necessary to make the sale. The subsidiaries hold inventories of purchased 

merchandise and products which consist of educational software kits, computers, 

peripheral equipment and spare parts. Cost of the inventories is determined using the first-

in, first-out method. 

The Group periodically evaluates the condition and age of inventories and makes 

provisions for slow moving inventories accordingly. 

i. Financial instruments: 

1. Financial assets: 

Financial assets are measured upon initial recognition at fair value plus transaction 

costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except for 

financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss in respect of which 

transaction costs are recorded in profit or loss. 

The Company classifies and measures debt instruments in the financial statements 

based on the following criteria: 

- The Company's business model for managing financial assets; and 

- The contractual cash flow terms of the financial asset. 

a) Debt instruments are measured at amortized cost when: 

The Company's business model is to hold the financial assets in order to 

collect their contractual cash flows, and the contractual terms of the financial 

assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. After initial 

recognition, the instruments in this category are measured according to their 

terms at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less any 

provision for impairment. 

On the date of initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a 

debt instrument as measured at fair value through profit or loss if doing so 

eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 

inconsistency, such as when a related financial liability is also measured at 

fair value through profit or loss. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

i.	 Financial instruments (Cont.): 

1.	 Financial assets (Cont.): 

b) Debt instruments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive 

income when: 

The Company's business model is to hold the financial assets in order to both 

collect their contractual cash flows and to sell the financial assets, and the 

contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 

amount outstanding. 

After initial recognition, the instruments in this category are measured at fair 

value. Gains or losses from fair value adjustments, excluding interest and 

exchange rate differences, are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

2.	 Impairment of financial assets: 

The Company evaluates at the end of each reporting period the loss allowance for 

financial debt instruments which are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Company distinguishes between two types of loss allowances: 

a) Debt instruments whose credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition, or whose credit risk is low - the loss allowance recognized in 

respect of this debt instrument is measured at an amount equal to the expected 

credit losses within 12 months from the reporting date (12-month ECLs); or 

b) Debt instruments whose credit risk has increased significantly since initial 

recognition, and whose credit risk is not low - the loss allowance recognized 

is measured at an amount equal to the expected credit losses over the 

instrument's remaining term (lifetime ECLs). 

The Company has short-term financial assets such as trade receivables in respect of 

which the Company applies a simplified approach and measures the loss allowance 

in an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. 

An impairment loss on debt instruments measured at amortized cost is recognized in 

profit or loss with a corresponding loss allowance that is offset from the carrying 

amount of the financial asset, whereas the impairment loss on debt instruments 

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income is recognized in profit 

or loss with a corresponding loss allowance that is recorded in other comprehensive 

income and not as a reduction of the carrying amount of the financial asset in the 

statement of financial position. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

i. Financial instruments (Cont.): 

The Company applies the low credit risk simplification in the Standard, according to 

which the Company assumes the debt instrument's credit risk has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition if on the reporting date it is determined that the 

instrument has a low credit risk, for example when the instrument has an external 

rating of "investment grade". 

3. Derecognition of Financial assets: 

A financial asset is derecognized only when: 

- The contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset has expired; 

or 

- The Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards deriving 

from the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset or 

has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 

the asset, but has transferred control of the asset; or 

- The Company has retained its contractual rights to receive cash flows from 

the financial asset but has assumed a contractual obligation to pay the cash 

flows in full without material delay to a third party. 

4. Financial liabilities: 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost: 

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less transaction costs that 

are directly attributable to the issue of the financial liability. 

After initial recognition, the Company measures all financial liabilities at amortized 

cost using the effective interest rate method, except for: 

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss such as derivatives; 

- Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not 

qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach 

applies; 

- Financial guarantee contracts; 

- Commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate; 

- Contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination 

to which IFRS 3 applies. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

i. Financial instruments (Cont.): 

5. Derecognition of financial liabilities: 

A financial liability is derecognized only when it is extinguished, that is when the 

obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. A financial 

liability is extinguished when the debtor discharges the liability by paying in cash, 

other financial assets, goods or services; or is legally released from the liability. 

When there is a modification in the terms of an existing financial liability, the 

Company evaluates whether the modification is substantial, taking into account 

qualitative and quantitative information. 

If the terms of an existing financial liability are substantially modified or a liability 

is exchanged for another liability from the same lender with substantially different 

terms, the modification or exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the 

original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the 

carrying amounts of the above liabilities is recognized in profit or loss. 

If the modification in the terms of an existing liability is not substantial or if a liability 

is exchanged for another liability from the same lender whose terms are not 

substantially different, the Company recalculates the carrying amount of the liability 

by discounting the revised cash flows at the original effective interest rate and any 

resulting difference is recognized in profit or loss. 

6. Offsetting financial instruments: 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in 

the statement of financial position if there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 

recognized amounts and there is an intention either to settle on a net basis or to realize 

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The right of set-off must be legally 

enforceable not only during the ordinary course of business of the parties to the 

contract but also in the event of bankruptcy or insolvency of one of the parties. In 

order for the right of set-off to be currently available, it must not be contingent on a 

future event, there may not be periods during which the right is not available, or there 

may not be any events that will cause the right to expire. 

7. Put option granted to non-controlling interests: 

When the Group grants non-controlling interests a put option, to sell part or all of 

their interests in a subsidiary during a certain period, on the date of grant, the non-

controlling interests are classified as a financial liability. The Group remeasures the 

financial liability at the end of each reporting period based on the estimated present 

value of the consideration to be transferred upon the exercise of the put option. 

Changes in the amount of the liability are recorded in the statement of comprehensive 

income. If the option is exercised in subsequent periods, the consideration paid upon 

exercise is treated as settlement of the liability. If the option expires, the liability is 

settled and it is a portion of the investment in the subsidiary disposed of, without loss 

of control therein. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

j. Leases: 

On January 1, 2019, the Company first applied IFRS 16, "Leases" ("the Standard"). The 

Company elected to apply the provisions of the Standard using the modified retrospective 

method (without restatement of comparative data). 

The accounting policy for leases applied effective from January 1, 2019, is as follows: 

The Company accounts for a contract as a lease when the contract terms convey the right 

to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

1. The Group as a lessee: 

For leases in which the Company is the lessee, the Company recognizes on the 

commencement date of the lease a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, excluding 

leases whose term is up to 12 months and leases for which the underlying asset is of 

low value. For these excluded leases, the Company has elected to recognize the lease 

payments as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

In measuring the lease liability, the Company has elected to apply the practical 

expedient in the Standard and does not separate the lease components from the non-

lease components (such as management and maintenance services, etc.) included in 

a single contract. 

Leases which entitle employees to a company car as part of their employment terms 

are accounted for as employee benefits in accordance with the provisions of IAS 19 

and not as subleases. 

On the commencement date, the lease liability includes all unpaid lease payments 

discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily 

determined, or otherwise using the Company's incremental borrowing rate. After the 

commencement date, the Company measures the lease liability using the effective 

interest rate method. 

On the commencement date, the right-of-use asset is recognized in an amount equal 
to the lease liability plus lease payments already made on or before the 
commencement date and initial direct costs incurred. The right-of-use asset is 
measured applying the cost model and depreciated over the shorter of its useful life 
and the lease term. 

Following are the amortization periods of the right-of-use assets by class of 
underlying asset: 

Years Mainly  

Land  3-5 3  
Motor vehicles  2-3  2  

The Company tests for impairment of the right-of-use asset whenever there are 

indications of impairment pursuant to the provisions of IAS 36. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

j. Leases (Cont.): 

2. The Group as lessor: 

The classification of a lease as a finance lease or operating lease is determined based 

on the substance of the lease agreement, and the assessment is made at the inception 

date of the lease pursuant to the provisions of the Standard. 

Operating lease: 

A lease in which substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 

the leased asset have not been transferred to the lessee is classified as an operating 

lease. Lease payments are recognized as income in profit or loss on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in respect of the lease 

agreement are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognized 

as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income. 

3. Variable lease payments that depend on an index: 

On the commencement date, the Company uses the index rate prevailing on the 

commencement date to calculate the future lease payments. 

For leases in which the Company is the lessee, the aggregate changes in future lease 

payments resulting from a change in the index are discounted (without a change in 

the discount rate applicable to the lease liability) and recorded as an adjustment of 

the lease liability and the right-of-use asset, only when there is a change in the cash 

flows resulting from the change in the index (that is, when the adjustment to the lease 

payments takes effect). 

4. Lease extension and termination options: 

A non-cancelable lease term includes both the periods covered by an option to extend 

the lease when it is reasonably certain that the extension option will be exercised and 

the periods covered by a lease termination option when it is reasonably certain that 

the termination option will not be exercised. 

In the event of any change in the expected exercise of the lease extension option or 

in the expected non-exercise of the lease termination option, the Company 

remeasures the lease liability based on the revised lease term using a revised discount 

rate as of the date of the change in expectations. The total change is recognized in 

the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset until it is reduced to zero, and any 

further reductions are recognized in profit or loss. 

5. Lease modifications: 

If a lease modification does not reduce the scope of the lease and does not result in 

a separate lease, the Company remeasures the lease liability based on the modified 

lease terms using a revised discount rate as of the modification date and records the 

change in the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

j. Leases (Cont.): 

5. Lease modifications (Cont.): 

If  a lease modification  reduces the scope of  the lease, the Company recognizes  a gain 

or  loss arising from  the partial  or  full  reduction  of  the carrying  amount  of  the right-

of-use  asset  and  the lease  liability.  The  Company  subsequently  remeasures  the  

carrying amount  of  the lease  liability according  to  the revised  lease  terms,  at  the  

revised  discount rate as of the modification  date and records  the change in the lease 

liability as an adjustment  to the right-of-use  asset.  

The accounting policy for leases applied until December 31, 2018, is as follows: 

The criteria for classifying leases as finance or operating leases depend on the substance of 

the agreements and are made at the inception of the lease in accordance with the following 

principles as set out in IAS 17. 

The Group as lessee: 

1. Finance leases: 

A lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 

of the leased asset to the Group is classified as a finance lease. At the commencement 

of the lease term, the leased asset is measured at the lower of the fair value of the 

leased asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

The leased asset is depreciated over the shorter of its useful life and the lease term. 

See additional information in n below. 

2. Operating leases: 

Lease agreements are classified as an operating lease if they do not transfer 

substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased asset. 

Lease payments are recognized as an expense in the statement of comprehensive 

income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The Group as lessor: 

Operating leases: 

Leases in which the Group does not transfer to the lessee substantially all the risks and 

rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset are classified as operating leases. Rental 

income is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial 

direct costs incurred in respect of the lease agreement are added to the carrying amount of 

the leased asset and recognized as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the 

rental income. Contingent rent is recognized as income in the statement of profit or loss 

when the Company is entitled to receive such income. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

k. Business combinations and goodwill: 

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. The cost of 

the acquisition is measured at the fair value of the consideration transferred on the 

acquisition date with the addition of non-controlling interests in the acquiree. In each 

business combination, the Company chooses whether to measure the non-controlling 

interests in the acquiree based on their fair value on the acquisition date or at their 

proportionate share in the fair value of the acquiree's net identifiable assets. 

Direct acquisition costs are carried to the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. 

In a business combination achieved in stages, equity interests in the acquiree that had been 

held by the acquirer prior to obtaining control are measured at the acquisition date fair value 

while recognizing a gain or loss resulting from the revaluation of the prior investment on 

the date of achieving control. 

Contingent consideration is recognized at fair value on the acquisition date and classified 

as a financial asset or liability in accordance with IFRS 9. Subsequent changes in the fair 

value of the contingent consideration are recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost which represents the excess of the acquisition 

consideration and the amount of non-controlling interests over the net identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed. If the resulting amount is negative, the acquirer recognizes 

the resulting gain on the acquisition date without subsequent measurement. 

l. Investments in associates: 

Associates are companies in which the Group has significant influence over the financial 

and operating policies without having control. The investment in an associate is accounted 

for using the equity method. 

m. Investments accounted for using the equity method: 

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity 

method. 

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate or in the joint venture is presented 

at cost with the addition of post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets, 

including other comprehensive income of the associate or the joint venture. Gains and 

losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate or the joint venture 

are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or in the joint venture. 

Goodwill relating to the acquisition of an associate or a joint venture is presented as part of 

the investment in the associate or the joint venture, measured at cost and not systematically 

amortized. Goodwill is evaluated for impairment as part of the investment in the associate 

or in the joint venture as a whole. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

m. Investments accounted for using the equity method (Cont.): 

The financial statements of the Company and of the associate or joint venture are prepared 

as of the same dates and periods. The accounting policies applied in the financial statements 

of the associate or the joint venture are uniform and consistent with the policies applied in 

the financial statements of the Group. 

Upon the acquisition of an associate or a joint venture achieved in stages when the former 

investment in the acquiree was accounted for pursuant to the provisions of IFRS 9, the 

Group adopts the principles of IFRS 3 regarding business combinations achieved in stages. 

Consequently, equity interests in the acquiree that had been held by the Group prior to 

achieving significant influence or joint control are measured at fair value on the acquisition 

date and are included in the acquisition consideration while recognizing a gain or loss 

resulting from the fair value measurement. 

The equity method is applied until the loss of significant influence in the associate or loss 

of joint control in the joint venture or classification as investment held for sale. 

On the date of loss of significant influence or joint control, the Group measures any 

remaining investment in the associate or the joint venture at fair value, and recognizes in 

profit or loss, the difference between the fair value of any remaining investment, plus any 

proceeds from the sale of the investment in the associate or the joint venture, and the 

carrying amount of the investment, on that date. 

n. Property, plant and equipment: 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, including directly attributable costs, 

less accumulated depreciation, accumulated impairment losses and any related investment 

grants and excluding day-to-day servicing expenses. The cost includes spare parts and 

auxiliary equipment that are used in connection with plant and equipment. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the assets at annual 

rates as follows: 

%

Building 2-4   
Computers,  furniture and equipment  7-33   
Motor vehicles  15   
Leasehold improvements  See below  

Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 

lease term (including the extension option held by the Group and intended to be exercised) 

and the expected life of the improvement. 

The useful life, depreciation method and residual value of an asset are reviewed at least 

each year-end and any changes are accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting 

estimate. As for testing the impairment of property, plant and equipment, see p below. 

Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held 

for sale and the date that the asset is derecognized. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

o. Intangible assets: 

Separately acquired intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost including 

directly attributable costs. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are 

measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Expenditures relating to internally generated 

intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs, are recognized in the statement 

of comprehensive income when incurred. 

According to management's assessment, intangible assets that have a finite useful life, are 

amortized over their useful life using the straight-line method and reviewed for impairment 

whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. The amortization period 

and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at 

least at each financial year end. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not systematically amortized and are tested 

for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be 

impaired. The useful life of these assets is reviewed annually to determine whether their 

indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If the events and circumstances do 

not continue to support the assessment, the change in the useful life assessment from 

indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate and 

on that date the asset is tested for impairment. Commencing from that date, the asset is 

amortized systematically over its useful life. 

The useful life of intangible assets is as follows: 

Years

Customer base and backlog  3 - 8   
Brand names 5  
Licenses and franchises  2 - 4  

Gains or losses arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset are determined as the 

difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are 

recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. 

p. Impairment of non-financial assets: 

The Company evaluates the need for an impairment of non-financial assets (property, plant 

and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill, investments in associates) whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount is not recoverable. If the 

carrying amount of non-financial assets exceeds their recoverable amount, the assets are 

reduced to their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value 

less costs of sale, and value in use. In measuring value in use, the expected future cash 

flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the asset. 

The recoverable amount of an asset that does not generate independent cash flows is 

determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses are 

recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. 

An impairment loss of an asset, other than goodwill, is reversed only if there have been 

changes in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last 

impairment loss was recognized. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

p. Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont.): 

Reversal of an impairment loss, as above, shall not be increased above the lower of the 

carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortization) had 

no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years and its recoverable amount. 

The reversal of impairment loss of an asset presented at cost is recognized in the statement 

of comprehensive income. 

The following unique criteria are applied in assessing impairment of these specific assets: 

1. Goodwill in respect of acquired businesses: 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination 

is allocated, at the acquisition date, to each of the Group's cash-generating units that 

are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

The Company performs its own tests and uses third party valuation specialists to test 

goodwill for impairment once a year, on December 31, or more frequently if events 

or changes in circumstances indicate that there is impairment. 

Goodwill is tested for impairment by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill has been 

allocated. An impairment loss is recognized if the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been 

allocated is less than the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of 

cash-generating units). Any impairment loss is allocated first to goodwill. 

Impairment losses recognized for goodwill cannot be reversed in subsequent periods. 

2. Investment in associate company using the equity method: 

After application of the equity method, the Company determines whether it is 

necessary to recognize any additional impairment loss with respect to the investment 

in associates or joint ventures. The Company determines at each reporting date 

whether there is objective evidence that the carrying amount of the investment in the 

associate or the joint venture is impaired. 

The test  of  impairment  is  carried out  with  reference to  the entire investment,  

including the goodwill attributed to the associate or  the joint venture.  

q. Government grants: 

Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the grants will 

be received and the Company will comply with the attached conditions. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

r. Taxes on income: 

Current or deferred taxes are recognized in the comprehensive income, except to the extent 

that they relate to items which are recognized in other comprehensive income or equity. 

1. Current taxes: 

The current tax liability is measured using the tax rates and tax laws that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date as well as adjustments 

required in connection with the tax liability in respect of previous years. 

2. Deferred taxes: 

Deferred taxes are computed in respect of temporary differences between the 

carrying amounts in the financial statements and the amounts attributed for tax 

purposes. 

Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply when the asset 

is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date based on their utilization 

probability. Deductible carryforward losses and temporary differences for which 

deferred tax assets had not been recognized are reviewed at each reporting date and 

a respective deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that their utilization is 

probable. 

Taxes that would apply in the event of the disposal of investments in investees have 

not been taken into account in computing deferred taxes, as long as the disposal of 

the investments in investees is not probable in the foreseeable future. Also, deferred 

taxes that would apply in the event of distribution of earnings by investees as 

dividends have not been taken into account in computing deferred taxes, since the 

distribution of dividends does not involve an additional tax liability or since it is the 

Group's policy not to initiate distribution of dividends from a subsidiary that would 

trigger an additional tax liability. 

Deferred taxes are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset a current tax 

asset against a current tax liability and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxpayer 

and the same taxation authority. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

s. Share-based payment transactions: 

The Company's employees are entitled to remuneration in the form of equity-settled share-

based payment transactions. 

Equity-settled transactions: 

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured at the fair value of the 

equity instruments at its grant date. The fair value is determined using a standard option 

pricing model. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized in statement of comprehensive income 

together with a corresponding increase in equity during the period which the performance 

and/or service conditions are to be satisfied ending on the date on which the relevant 

employees become entitled to the award ("the vesting period"). The cumulative expense 

recognized for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the 

vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best 

estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 

No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where 

vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of 

whether the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other vesting conditions (service 

and/or performance) are satisfied. 

t. Employee benefit liabilities: 

The Group has several employee benefit plans: 

1. Short-term employee benefits: 

Short-term employee benefits are benefits that are expected to be settled wholly 

before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the 

employees render the related services. These benefits include salaries, paid annual 

leave, paid sick leave, recreation and social security contributions and are recognized 

as expenses as the services are rendered. A liability in respect of a cash bonus or a 

profit-sharing plan is recognized when the Group has a legal or constructive 

obligation to make such payment as a result of past service rendered by an employee 

and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 

2. Post-employment benefits: 

The plans are normally financed by contributions to insurance companies and 

classified as defined contribution plans or as defined benefit plans. 

The Group has defined contribution plans pursuant to section 14 to the Severance 

Pay Law under which the Group pays fixed contributions and will have no legal or 

constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold 

sufficient amounts to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the 

current and prior periods. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

t. Employee benefit liabilities (Cont.): 

2. Post-employment benefits (Cont.): 

Contributions to the defined contribution plan in respect of severance or retirement 

pay are recognized as an expense when contributed concurrently with performance 

of the employee's services. 

The Group also operates a defined benefit plan in respect of severance pay pursuant 

to the Severance Pay Law. According to the Law, employees are entitled to 

severance pay upon 

dismissal or retirement. The liability for termination of employment is measured 

using the projected unit credit method. The actuarial assumptions include rates of 

employee turnover and future salary increases based on the estimated timing of 

payment. The amounts are 

presented based on discounted expected future cash flows using a discount rate 

determined by reference to market yields at the reporting date on high quality 

corporate bonds that are linked to the Consumer Price Index with a term that is 

consistent with the estimated term of the severance pay obligation. 

In respect of its severance pay obligation to certain of its employees, the Group 

makes current deposits in pension funds and insurance companies ("the plan assets"). 

Plan assets comprise assets held by a long-term employee benefit fund or qualifying 

insurance policies. Plan assets are not available to the Group's own creditors and 

cannot be returned directly to the Group. 

The liability for employee benefits shown in the statement of financial position 

reflects the present value of the defined benefit obligation less the fair value of the 

plan assets. 

Remeasurements of the net liability are recognized in other comprehensive income 

in the period in which they occur. 

3. Other long-term employee benefits: 

The Group's employees are entitled to benefits in respect adaptation grants. These 

benefits are accounted for as other long-term benefits since the Company estimates 

that these benefits will be used and the respective Group's obligation will be settled 

during the employment period and more than twelve months after the end of the 

annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. 

The Group's net obligation for other long-term employee benefits, which is 

computed based on actuarial assumptions, is for the future benefit due to the 

employees for service rendered in the current period and in prior periods and taking 

into account expected salary increases The amount of these benefits is discounted to 

its present value. The discount rate is determined by reference at the reporting date 

to market yields on high quality corporate bonds that are linked to the Consumer 

Price Index and whose term is consistent with the term of the Group's obligation. 
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t.	 Employee benefit liabilities (Cont.): 

3.	 Other long-term employee benefits (Cont.): 

 

          

 

 

  

 

 

 

      

     

  

 

  

 

    

  

 

       

     

   

  

 

    

 

      

    

      

  

    

           

       

        

  

 
        

       

  

 

           

    

  

 

      

           

         

 

	 

	 

	 

	 

MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

Remeasurement of the net obligation is recognized to the statement of 

comprehensive income in the incurred period. 

u.	 Revenue recognition: 

The Company and its subsidiaries recognize revenues based on the following criteria: 

1.	 Revenues from Information Technologies (IT) Software solutions and services, 

Consulting & Management in Israel and Revenues from Information Technologies 

(IT) Software solutions and services abroad: 

a) Revenues from contracts based on actual inputs: 

Revenues from master agreements based on actual inputs are recognized based 

on actual labor hours. 

b) Outsourcing - these agreements are similar in nature to agreements that are 

based on actual labor hours. The Group allocates employees to projects that 

are generally managed by the customers at their charge based on the pricing 

of labor hours. Revenues are recognized based on actual labor hours. 

2.	 Revenues from sales, distribution and support of software products: 

Revenues from the sale of products are recognized after all the significant risks and 

rewards of ownership of the products have been transferred to the buyer, the Group 

does not retain any continuing management involvement that is associated with 

ownership and does not retain the effective control of the sold products, the amount 

of revenues can be measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits 

associated with the transaction will flow to the Group and the costs incurred or to be 

incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. The Group reports 

income on a gross basis since it acts as a principal and bears the risks and rewards 

derived from the transaction. 

Revenues from sale agreements that do not provide a general right of return and 

consist of multiple elements such as hardware, service and support agreements are 

split into different accounting units which are separately recognized. 

An element only represents a separate accounting unit if and only if it has standalone 

value for the customer. Moreover, there should be reliable and objective evidence of 

the fair value of all the elements in the agreement or of the fair value of undelivered 

elements. Revenues from the various accounting units are recognized when the 

revenue recognition criteria are met with respect to all the elements of the accounting 

unit based on their specific type and only up to the amount of the consideration that 

is not contingent on completion or performance of the other elements in the contract. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

u. Revenue recognition (Cont.) 

2. Revenues from sales, distribution and support of software products (Cont.) 

Revenues from maintenance services are recognized on a straight-line basis at the 

relative portion of the maintenance contract that is determined for each reporting 

year. Revenues that have been received before the respective service has been 

provided are carried to deferred income. 

3. Revenues from training and implementation services: 

Revenues from trainings and implementations are recognized when providing the
 
service.
 
Revenues from  training services  in respect of  public  courses  for a period of  up to 3 


months  will be recognize  over  the  period of the  course.
  
 

Revenues from  training services in respect of courses  ordered in advance  and long-

term  or short term (for  a period of  up to a year)  retraining courses  will be 
 
 
recognized  over  the  period of the  course. 
 
 

Revenues from projects which usually ordered by organizations, will be recognize
 
under the actual inputs recognize using the basis of hours actual invested in the
 
project.
 

4. Revenues from computer infrastructure and cloud solutions: 

Revenues from from computer infrastructure and cloud solutions are recognized 

after all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the products have been 

transferred to the buyer. The Group does not retain any continuing management 

involvement that is associated with ownership and does not retain the effective 

control of the sold products, the amount of revenues can be measured reliably, it is 

probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 

Group and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be 

measured reliably. 

5. Interest income: 

Interest income on financial assets is recognized as it accrues using the effective 

interest method and recorded in the statement of comprehensive income as financial 

income. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

u. Revenue recognition (Cont.) 

The accounting policy for revenue recognition applied from January 1, 2018, is as 

follows: 

Revenue recognition: 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when the control over the goods or 

services is transferred to the customer. The transaction price is the amount of the 

consideration that is expected to be received based on the contract terms, excluding 

amounts collected on behalf of third parties (such as taxes). 

In determining the amount  of  revenue  from  contracts with customers, the Company  

evaluates  whether  it  is  a principal  or  an agent  in the arrangement. The  Company is a  

principal  when  the Company controls  the promised  goods or  services  before transferring  

them  to the customer. In these circumstances, the  Company recognizes  revenue for  the  

gross  amount  of  the consideration. When  the Company is an agent, it  recognizes revenue  

for  the net  amount  of  the  consideration, after deducting the amount due to the principal.  

Revenue of contracts according to actual inputs: 

Income from framework agreements for the performance of work according to actual inputs 

is recognized according to the hours actually invested. 

Revenues from sales, distribution and support of software products: 

The Company recognizes revenue from software licensing transactions at a point in time 

when the Company provides the customer a right to use the Company's intellectual property 

as it exists at the point in time at which the license is granted to the customer. The Company 

recognizes revenue from software licensing transactions over time when the Company 

provides the customer a right to access the Company's intellectual property throughout the 

license period. 

Revenue from  sales  agreements that  do not  have  a general  right  of  return, which include  

several  components  such  as an software, service, and  support  agreements, is split  into  

separate performance obligation  and recognized separately for  each performance  

obligation. The allocation of  the consideration shall  be performed proportionately based on  

the separate sales price  of  each component. Recognition of  revenue from  the  various  

performance  obligations is recognized when the conditions for  recognition of  the income  

from  the components included in that  obligation are satisfied, and only up to the amount  of  

the consideration that  is not  contingent  upon completion or  performance  of  the remaining  

components of the contract.  

Revenue from maintenance: 

Maintenance income is recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of the maintenance
 
contract due to be made in each accounting year.
 
Income received and not yet rendered for  the service is charged to advance  income.

- 39 -



  
   

   

 

  
 

   

 

  

 

     

 

 

     

         

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

         

   

 

  

 

    

 

 

     

  

 

 

 

     

    

    

      

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

u. Revenue recognition (Cont.): 

Revenue from Training and implementation: 

Revenues from training and implementation services are recognized when the service is
 
provided.
 
Income from  training services in respect  of  public courses whose  operating range  is up to 
 
3 months will be recognized over  the course  period.
  

Income from training services in respect of courses offered and long-term conversion
 
courses or short-term courses up to one year will be recognized over the course of the
 
course.
 
Revenues from  implementation  projects ordered  by  organizations will  be  recognized 
 
according to actual inputs (actually worked hours).
  

Revenue from  Computer  infrastructure and cloud solutions:

Revenues from  Computer  infrastructure and cloud solutions  are recognized in profit  or  loss  

at a point in time, with the transfer of  control over the goods sold to the customer. Usually  

the control  is transferred when the goods are delivered to the customer.  

Combination of contracts:  

The Company accounts for multiple contracts as a single contract when all the contracts 

are signed at or near the same time with the same customer or with related parties of the 

customer, and when one of the following criteria is met: 

- The contracts are negotiated as a package with a single commercial objective. 

- The amount of consideration to be paid in one contract depends on the consideration 

of another contract. 

- The goods or services that the Company will provide according to the contracts 

represent a single performance obligation for the Company. 

Variable consideration: 

The Company determines the transaction price separately for each contract with a 

customer. When exercising this judgment, the Company evaluates the effect of each 

variable amount in the contract, taking into consideration discounts, penalties, variations, 

claims, and non-cash consideration. In determining the effect of the variable consideration, 

the Company normally uses the "most likely amount" method described in the Standard. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

Pursuant to this method, the amount of the consideration is determined as the single most 

likely amount in the range of possible consideration amounts in the contract. According to 

the Standard, variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent 

that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of revenue recognized 

will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is 

subsequently resolved. 

Allocating the transaction price: 

For contracts that consist of more than one performance obligation, at contract inception 

the Company allocates the contract transaction price to each performance obligation 

identified in the contract on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. The stand-alone 

selling price is the price at which the Company would sell the promised goods or services 

separately to a customer. When the stand-alone selling price is not directly observable by 

reference to similar transactions with similar customers, the Company applies suitable 

methods for estimating the stand-alone selling price including: the adjusted market 

assessment approach, the expected cost plus a margin approach and the residual approach. 

The Company may also use a combination of these approaches to allocate the transaction 

price in the contract. 

v. Earnings per share: 

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to equity holders 

of the Company by the weighted number of Ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

Potential Ordinary shares are included in the computation of diluted earnings per share 

when their conversion decreases earnings per share from continuing operations. Potential 

Ordinary shares that are converted during the period are included in diluted earnings per 

share only until the conversion date and from that date in basic earnings per share. The 

Company's share of earnings of investees is included based on its share of earnings per 

share of the investees multiplied by the number of shares held by the Company. 

w. Provisions: 

A provision in accordance with IAS 37 is recognized when the Group has a present 

obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow 

of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect is material, 

provisions are measured according to the estimated future cash flows discounted using a 

pre-tax interest rate that reflects the market assessments of the time value of money and, 

where appropriate, those risks specific to the liability. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

w. Provisions (Cont.) 

Following are the types of provisions included in the financial statements: 

Legal claims: 

A provision for claims is recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of a past event, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources 

embodying economic benefits will be required by the Group to settle the obligation and a 

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Contingent liability recognized in a business combination: 

A contingent liability in a business combination is measured at fair value upon initial 

recognition. In subsequent periods, it is measured at the higher of the amount initially 

recognized less, when appropriate, cumulative amortization, and the amount that would be 

recognized at the end of the reporting period in accordance with IAS 37. 

x. Treasury shares: 

The company shares held by the Company are recognized at cost and deducted from equity. 

Any gain or loss arising from a purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of treasury shares is 

recognized directly in equity. 

y. Changes in accounting policies - initial application of new financial reporting and 

accounting standards and amendments to existing financial reporting and accounting 

standards: 

1. Amendment to IFRS 3, "Business Combinations": 

In October 2018, the IASB issued an amendment to the definition of a "business" in 

IFRS 3, "Business Combinations" ("the Amendment"). 

The Amendment clarifies that in order to meet the definition of a "business", an 

acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a 

substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create 

output. The Amendment also clarifies that a business can exist without including all 

of the inputs and processes necessary to create outputs. The Amendment includes an 

optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an 

acquired set of activities and assets is not a business, with no need for other 

assessments. 

The Amendment is to be applied to business combinations and asset acquisitions for 

which the acquisition date is on or after January 1, 2020. 

The initial application of the Amendment did not have a material effect on the 

Company's financial statements but it may have an effect on the assessment of the 

definition of a "business" for acquisitions completed after January 1, 2020. 

- 42 -

http://gaait-aa.ey.net/Document.aspx?PersistentBookId=514&GotoString=IAS%2037&ProductId=110#IAS 37


  
   

   

 

  
 

          

  

  

 
 

  

 

    

     

   

 

   

    

   

 

     

 

 

   

 

            

            

     

 

 

   

 

       

     

 

          

  

 

  

 

   

    
 

  

       

      

       

       

       

       

        

 

 

MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
 

y.	 Changes in accounting policies - initial application of new financial reporting and 

accounting standards and amendments to existing financial reporting and accounting 

standards (Cont.): 

2.	 Amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7 and IAS 39: 

In September 2019, the IASB published amendments to IFRS 9, "Financial 

Instruments", IFRS 7, "Financial Instruments: Disclosures" and IAS 39," Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement" (collectively - "the Amendment"). 

The Amendment permits certain temporary reliefs for entities applying hedge 

accounting for IBOR-based instruments which are affected by the uncertainty 

involving the expected interest rate benchmark reform. 

This reform has caused uncertainty relating to the timing and amounts of future cash 

flows from both hedging instruments and hedged items. 

The Amendment is applicable for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2020. 

The adoption of the Amendment did not have an effect on the Company's financial 

statements as of January 1, 2020, since the Company does not have any material 

IBOR-based hedge transactions which could be affected by the timing of the above 

reform. 

NOTE 3:- BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

a.	 During the first quarter of 2019, the Company made adjustments to the provisional amounts 

recognized under the temporary PPA performed by the Company at the time of acquisition, 

including the cost of acquisition and its allocation to the various sections. 

The financial statements as of December 31, 2018 and for the year ended that date have 

been revised by way of restatement to retrospectively reflect the effect of the adjustments. 

The effect of the adjustments on the financial statements is as follows: 

In the financial statements: 

As reported 
in the past  

The 
change  

As shown in 
these financial

statements  
NIS in thousands  

As of December 31, 2018  

Goodwill 686,490 3,512 690,002 

Intangible Assets 45,771  (4,529) 41,242 

Deferred taxes  (16,038) 1,410  (14,628) 

Liability for acquisition of activity  (13,915)  (393)  (14,308) 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 3:- BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONT.) 

b. On February 6, 2019, the Company acquired 80% of Dana Engineering Ltd.'s share capital 

for NIS 52 million. The Company and the Seller have a mutual option for sale and purchase 

of the balance of the shares within two years after the completion of the agreement. 

The fair  value of  the minority put  option for  the day of  the business combination  is NIS 

18.5 million. Dana Engineering is engaged in the management and supervision of  projects  

in the national infrastructure in  Israel. The excess  of the purchase  price  over  the estimated  

fair value of  the assets acquired and liabilities assumed  in the amount of  NIS 54.5 million.  

NIS 19.2 million was  allocated to intangible  assets, and the remaining was  allocated to  

goodwill.  

c. On February 20, 2019, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital of Medatech 

Information Technologies Inc. for NIS 85 million. Medatech Technologies provides 

solutions and services based on ERP Priority software. On April 7, 2019, the company 

completed an additional 25% acquisition of Medatech Technologies subsidiary, Medatech 

Systems Inc., for NIS 5.2 million. The Company and the Seller have a mutual option for 

sale and purchase of an additional 5% of the balance of the shares within two years after 

the date of completion of the agreement. Medatech Systems is engaged in providing 

complementary infrastructure services to Priority customers. The fair value of the minority 

put option as of the date of the business combination is NIS 1.2 million. 

The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and 

liabilities assumed in the amount of NIS 100.7 million. NIS 34.2 million was allocated to 

intangible assets, and the remaining was allocated to goodwill. 

d. On May 7, 2019, the Company acquired Techtop Ltd.'s line of operations, including its 

inventory, for NIS 17.9 million. Techtop Marketing Ltd. is engaged in importing, designing 

and developing, marketing and selling professional audio equipment (Pro Audio) and 

professional lighting in Israel. 

e.	 On July 9, 2020, the Company acquired 51% of the share capital of Gestetnertec Ltd. for a 

total of approximately NIS 49.8 million. The company and the sellers also have mutual 

options for the sale and purchase of the remaining shares. The fair value of the sale option 

to the minority on the day of the business combination is in the amount of approximately 

NIS 61.1 million Gestetnertec provides comprehensive solutions in the area of printing , 

document production services and markets, among other things, solutions for printing three 

dimensional models. As of the date of the report, the valuation underlying the attribution 

of the consideration to assets and liabilities has not yet been completed and accordingly 

this attribution is temporary, according to management's assessment. Excess cost was 

attributed to the acquisition in the amount of approximately 98.6 million NIS, while the 

intangible assets were attributed an excess of cost in the amount of approximately 55.3 

million NIS , and the balance was attributed to goodwill. 

f.	 On November 16, 2020, the Company acquired 100% of the share capital of RightStar Inc. 

in the United States, for a total of approximately USD 3.6 million (approximately NIS 12.2 

million) in cash. As part of the acquisition agreement, an additional consideration was 

agreed subject to the achievement of operating profit targets, according to the company's 

calculation, the value of the additional consideration as of the day of the business 

combination is $ 1.1 million (approximately NIS 3.7 million). Its main business is the sale 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 3:- BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONT.) 

and implementation of BMC and Atlassian Jira solutions. As of the date of the report, the 

valuation underlying the attribution of the consideration to assets and liabilities has not yet 

been completed and accordingly this attribution is temporary, according to management's 

assessment. Excess cost was attributed to the acquisition in the amount of approximately $ 

1.2 million (approximately NIS 4 million) by the Company, while the intangible assets 

were attributed an excess of cost in the amount of approximately $ 0.35 million 

(approximately NIS 1 million) and the balance was attributed to goodwill. 

NOTE 4:- DISCLOSURE OF NEW STANDARDS IN THE PERIOD PRIOR TO THEIR 
ADOPTION 

a. Amendment to IAS 16, "Property, Plant and Equipment": 

In May 2020, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 16, "Property, Plant and Equipment" 

("the Amendment"). The Amendment prohibits a company from deducting from the cost 

of property, plant and equipment ("PP&E") consideration received from the sales of items 

produced while the company is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, the 

company should recognize such consideration and related costs in profit or loss. 

The Amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2022, with earlier application permitted. The Amendment is to be applied retrospectively, 

but only to items of PP&E made available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest 

period presented in the financial statements in which the company first applies the 

Amendment. The company should recognize the cumulative effect of initially applying the 

Amendment as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at the beginning 

of the earliest period presented. 

The Company estimates that the application of the Amendment is not expected to have a 

material impact on the financial statements. 

b. Amendment to IAS 37, "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets": 

In May 2020, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 37, regarding which costs a company 

should include when assessing whether a contract is onerous ("the Amendment"). 

According to the Amendment, costs of fulfilling a contract include both the incremental 

costs (for example, raw materials and direct labor) and an allocation of other costs that 

relate directly to fulfilling a contract (for example, depreciation of an item of property, 

plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract). 

The Amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 and 

applies to contracts for which all obligations in respect thereof have not yet been fulfilled 

as of January 1, 2022. Early application is permitted. 

The Company estimates that the application of the Amendment is not expected to have a 

material impact on the financial statements. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 4:- DISCLOSURE OF NEW STANDARDS IN THE PERIOD PRIOR TO THEIR 
ADOPTION (CONT.) 

c.	 Annual improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020: 

In May 2020, the IASB issued certain amendments in the context of the Annual 

Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle. The main amendment is to IFRS 9, "Financial 

Instruments" ("the Amendment"). The Amendment clarifies which fees a company should 

include in the "10% test" described in paragraph B3.3.6 of IFRS 9 when assessing whether 

the terms of a debt instrument that has been modified or exchanged are substantially 

different from the terms of the original debt instrument. 

The Amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Early 

application is permitted. The Amendment is to be applied to debt instruments that are 

modified or exchanged commencing from the year in which the Amendment is first applied. 

d.	 Amendment to IAS 1, "Presentation of Financial Statements": 

In January 2020, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 1, "Presentation of Financial 

Statements" ("the Amendment") regarding the criteria for determining the classification of 

liabilities as current or non-current. 

The Amendment includes the following clarifications: 

•	 What is meant by a right to defer settlement; 

•	 That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period; 

•	 That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its 

deferral right; 

•	 That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity 

instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its classification. 

The Amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 and 

must be applied retrospectively. 

The Company is evaluating the possible impact of the Amendment on its current loan 

agreements. 

e.	 Amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7, IFRS 16, IFRS 4 and IAS 39 regarding the IBOR reform: 

In August 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, "Financial Instruments", IFRS 7, 

"Financial Instruments: Disclosures", IAS 39, "Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement", IFRS 4, "Insurance Contracts", and IFRS 16, "Leases" ("the 

Amendments"). 

The Amendments provide practical expedients when accounting for the effects of the 

replacement of benchmark InterBank Offered Rates (IBORs) by alternative Risk Free 

Interest Rates (RFRs). 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 4:- DISCLOSURE OF NEW STANDARDS IN THE PERIOD PRIOR TO THEIR 
ADOPTION (CONT.) 

e.	 Amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7, IFRS 16, IFRS 4 and IAS 39 regarding the IBOR reform 

(Cont.): 

Pursuant to one of the practical expedients, an entity will treat contractual changes or 

changes to cash flows that are directly required by the reform as changes to a floating 

interest rate. That is, an entity recognizes the changes in interest rates as an adjustment of 

the effective interest rate without adjusting the carrying amount of the financial instrument. 

The use of this practical expedient is subject to the condition that the transition from IBOR 

to RFR takes place on an economically equivalent basis. 

In addition, the Amendments permit changes required by the IBOR reform to be made to 

hedge designations and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship being 

discontinued, provided certain conditions are met. The Amendments also provide 

temporary relief from having to meet the "separately identifiable" requirement according 

to which a risk component must also be separately identifiable to be eligible for hedge 

accounting. 

The Amendments include new disclosure requirements in connection with the expected 

effect of the reform on an entity's financial statements, such as how the entity is managing 

the process to transition to the interest rate reform, the risks to which it is exposed due to 

the reform and quantitative information about IBOR-referenced financial instruments that 

are expected to change. 

The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021. 

The Amendments are to be applied retrospectively. However, restatement of comparative 

periods is not required. Early application is permitted. 

The Company estimates that the application of the Amendments is not expected to have a 

material impact on the financial statements. 

The Company is presently assessing the accounting implications, if any, of the transition 

from IBORs to RFRs on the financial instrument contracts that are expected to be in effect 

on the transition date, including the effects of the application of the above Amendments. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE  5:- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
 

   
  

    
    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

   

   

December 31,
2020 2019

NIS in thousands
 
In NIS: 
Cash for immediate withdrawal 250,693 199,541 
Short-term deposits 169,935 80,469 

420,628 280,010 

In foreign currency: 
Cash for immediate withdrawal 222,406 178,871 
Short-term deposits 1,227 407 

223,633 179,278 

644,261 459,288 

NOTE 6:- TRADE RECEIVABLES AND UNBILLED RECEIVABLE, NET 

a.  Open debts:
 

    
  
    

    
    

    
    

    
      

    
    

    
     

    
    

December 31,
 
2020 2019

NIS in thousands
 

In NIS 762,187 802,912 
In foreign currency 94,612 110,374 
Related parties 3,113 4,913 
Checks receivable 24,540 19,600 
Unbilled receivables 177,944 212,051 
Less - allowance for doubtful accounts  (12,402)  (8,626) 

Short-term trade receivables 1,049,994 1,141,224 

Long-term trade receivables - 770 

Trade receivables, net 1,049,994 1,141,994 

Impaired debts are accounted for through recording an allowance for doubtful accounts. 
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b.  The movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows: 

 
  

  
  

  

 
 

 

 

  
  
  
  
 

 
 

 

 

 

  
  
  
 
 

 
  

  
 

NIS in 
thousands 

Balance at January 1, 2019 6,323 

Entrance to consolidation 1,262
Addition during the year  3,880
Derecognition of  bad debts  (757)
Reversal  of  collected doubtful  accounts  (2,041)
Exchange Differences on translation of foreign operations  (41)

Balance at December 31, 2019 8,626

Entrance to consolidation 1,066
Addition during the year  4,465
Derecognition of  bad debts  (1,200)
Reversal  of collected doubtful  accounts  (555)
Exchange Differences on translation of foreign operations  -

Balance at December 31, 2020  12,402 

c.  An analysis of past due debts, including long-term trade receivables, which were not 
impaired (through allowance for doubtful accounts), trade receivables, net, with reference to 
reporting date: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

       
    

  
          

 

 

  

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
   

     
               

          

         

          

Past due trade receivables with aging of 

Current 
< 30 
days 

30 - 60 
days 

60 - 90 
days 

90 - 120 
days 

>120 
days Total 

NIS in thousands 

December 31, 2020 576,379 344,827 63,945 33,150 15,434 16,259 1,049,994
 

December 31, 2019 789,651 216,965 46,225 35,890 21,857 31,406 1,141,194
 

d.  Transaction prices allocated to unsatisfied or partially satisfied performance obligations: 

      

      

      

 
 

 

 

       
    

          

            

           

            

< Year 1 - 2 Years 
2  - 5   

Years  
After  5  
years  

Total (or  
partially  
fulfilled) 
execution  

commitments  
NIS in thousands 

December 31, 2020 312,603 154,815 160,946 66,940 695,304
 

December 31, 2019 229,362 137,163 233,736 69,892 670,153
 

MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 6:- TRADE RECEIVABLES AND UNBILLED RECEIVABLE, NET (CONT.) 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE  7:- OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE  
  
    

   
     

     

      

     

     

      

     
    

December 31,
 
2020 2019
 

NIS in thousands
 

Employees 770 1,546 
Government authorities 6,017 6,296 
Prepaid expenses 111,981 90,453 
Advances to suppliers 4,968 2,838 
Other accounts receivable 353 14 

124,089 101,147 

NOTE  8:- INVENTORIES
   
     
   

     

       

December 31,
 
2020 2019
 

NIS in thousands
 
Purchased products: 
Inventories of computers and peripheral equipment 77,121 24,730 

NOTE  9:- PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Composition  and  movement:

2020:  

  
 

  
    

           
           
          
         
       
       
   

          

       
          

       
       

       
          
         

       
       
   

          

       

         

       
      

       

Assets  owned and  used by  the Company  

 Assets  
under 

operating  
lease  

Computers, 
furniture  and  

equipment  
Motor  

vehicles
Leasehold 

improvements  

Machinery 
and 

equipment Total  
NIS in thousands 

Cost: 

Balance at January 1, 2020 115,504 12,674 72,619 - 200,797 
Entrance to consolidation 4,879 8,749 1,993 72,798 88,419 
Purchases 19,033 5,231 7,922 4,254 36,440 
Disposals  (1,642)  (5,302)  (593)  (6,023)  (13,560) 
Exchange rate differences from 

translation of foreign operations  (703) 8 - - (695) 

Balance at December 31, 2020 137,071 21,360 81,941 71,029 311,401 

Accumulated depreciation: 

Balance at January 1, 2020 76,910 5,485 42,970 - 125,365 
Entrance to consolidation 4,163 4,323 1,626 55,200 65,312 
Depreciation 17,330 2,454 7,992 4,391 32,167 
Disposals  (1,500)  (3,751)  (158)  (5,632)  (11,041) 
Exchange rate differences from 

translation of foreign operations  (529) 6  (523) 

Balance at December 31,2020 96,374 8,517 52,430 53,959 211,280 

Net Balance as of December 31, 
2020 40,697 12,843 29,511 17,070 100,121 
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    NOTE 9:- PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont.) 

 

 

   
   
   
   

   

   
   

   
   
   
   
   
   
   

   

   

   

   
   

 

MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

2019:  
 

    
    

         
         
         
        
      
      
     
       

      
         

      
      

      
         
        

      
      
     
       

      

        

      
            

 Computers,
furniture  

and  
equipment  

Motor 
vehicles

Leasehold 
improvemen 

ts  Total  
NIS in thousands 

Cost: 

Balance at January 1, 2019 92,319 774 68,510 161,603 
Entrance to consolidation 4,102 11,938 1,115 17,155 
Purchases 20,387 4,419 8,564 33,370 
Disposals (258) (4,150) (5,570) (9,978) 
Exchange rate differences from translation of 

foreign operations  (1,046)  (307) - (1,353) 

Balance at December 31, 2019 115,504 12,674 72,619 200,797 

Accumulated depreciation: 

Balance at January 1, 2019 59,810 150 37,840 97,800 
Entrance to consolidation 2,862 6,746 584 10,192 
Depreciation 15,148 2,333 7,869 25,350 
Disposals (204) (3,507) (3,323) (7,034) 
Exchange rate differences from translation of 

foreign operations  (706)  (237) - (943) 

Balance at December 31,2019 76,910 5,485 42,970 125,365 

Net Balance as of December 31, 2019 38,594 7,189 29,649 75,432 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE  10:- GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

a.  Composition:

2020:

  

 

    
    
           

       
       

   
  

 
     

  
 

 
     

  
 

 

 

     
       

  
   

 
     

       

 
 

     
       

   
  

 
     

       
       

  
   

 
     

       
   

  
 

     

Brand  
names  

Customer
base and  
backlog  

Licenses 
and 

franchises Goodwill Total 
NIS in thousands 

Cost: 

Balance as of January 
1, 2020 4,450 167,600 4,976 888,234 1,065,260 

Entrance to 
consolidation - 57,406 - 46,431 103,837 

Foreign currency 
translation 
adjustments - - - (12,888) (12,888) 

Adjustments - - - 3,460 3,460 
Balance as of 

December 31, 2020 4,450 225,006 4,976 925,237 1,159,669 

Accumulated 
amortization: 

Balance as of January 
1, 2020 4,306 90,674 4,150 103,023 202,153 

Amortization 144 17,917 189 - 18,250 

Balance as of 
December 31, 2020 4,450 108,591 4,339 103,023 220,403 

Net Balance as of 
December 31, 2020 - 116,415 637 822,214 939,266 

2019:

 

 

 

 
 

  

    
    

           
       

       
    

 
 

       
         

   
 

 
     

       
    

 
 

     
       

 
 

     
       

    
 

 
     

       
       

    
 

 
     

       
    

  
 

     

Brand  
names  

Customer 
base and
backlog  

Licenses 
and  

franchises  Goodwill Total 
NIS in thousands 

Cost: 

Balance as of January 1, 
2019 4,450 (*114,541 4,976 (*793,025 916,992 

Entrance to consolidation - 53,577 - 110,658 164,235 
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments - (518) - (15,449) (15,967) 

Balance as of December 31, 
2019 4,450 167,600 4,976 888,234 1,065,260 

Accumulated 
amortization: 

Balance as of January 1, 
2019 3,993 74,769 3,963 103,023 185,748 

Amortization 313 15,905 187 - 16,405 

Balance as of December 31, 
2019 4,306 90,674 4,150 103,023 202,153 

Net Balance as of 
December 31, 2019 144 76,926 826 785,211 863,107 

*)  Immaterial adjustment of  comparative data  - see Note 3
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   a. Composition (Cont.): 

 

 

 

 

 	 

 	 
 

 

  

 

 

 	

 
 
 
 
 

  

 

 
 

     
     
     
     

     

     

     

MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 10:- GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT.) 

In 2020, the Group dercognized  the  balance of  intangible assets that  were fully depreciated  

and are not  used by the Group in the amount  of  NIS 37,637 thousand (intangible assets 

under  development  in  the amount  of  NIS 31,429 thousand and course  development  costs  

capitalized in the amount of NIS 6,208 thousand).  

b.  Amortization of  intangible assets:

1. The amortization method reflects the future economic benefits that will derive from  

the asset.  

2. The amortization expenses of  intangible assets with a definite useful  life was  

allocated  mainly in  selling and marketing expenses in the statement  of  

comprehensive income.  

c. Impairment  of goodwill:

In order  to test  the impairment  of  goodwill, the goodwill  was  allocated to operating  

segments that represent  five  cash-generating units as follows:  

1. Information  Technologies  (IT) Software solutions and services, Consulting  &  

Management in Israel.  

2. Training and implementation  

3. Software product  marketing and support.  

4. Computer  infrastructure and cloud  solutions.  

2.	 Training and implementation.  

5. Information Technologies  (IT) Software solutions and services in USA.  

As of  December  31, 2020,  the carrying amount  of  the goodwill  allocated to each cash-

generating unit (each representing a segment)  is as  follows:  

 

     
     
             

     
 

 
      

        
          

        
   

 
 

      
        

   
  

 
      

  

IT Software  
solutions 

and  services  
in  Israel  

Training and 
implementation 

Software  
product 

marketing  
and  support

Computer  
infrastructu

re  and  
Cloud  

 solutions  

IT  
Software  
solutions 

and  services 
in  USA  Total 

NIS in thousands 

Goodwill balance as of January 1, 
2020 392,645 82,689 27,853 20,237 261,787 785,211 

Initially consolidated company's - - - 43,467 2,964 46,431 
Adjustments 2,059 - 731 503 167 3,460 
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments - - - - (12,888) (12,888) 

Goodwill balance as of December 
31, 2020 394,704 82,689 28,584 64,207 252,030 822,214 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 10:- GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT.) 

d.  Data of  units to which material  goodwill  was  allocated in relation to the goodwill's carrying  

amount:

Information Technologies  (IT) Software solutions and services, Consulting &  Management  

in Israel:  

Total  goodwill  as of  December  31, 2020  in the amount  of  NIS  394,704  thousand  (total  

goodwill  as  of  December  31, 2019  NIS  392,645  thousand). The recoverable amount  of  the  

software  solutions  and services  unit  was determined based on the value in  use  which is  

calculated  according  to the expected  estimated  future cash flows  from  this cash-generating  

unit, as  determined according to the budget  for  the next  five years and approved  by the  

Group's management. The  key assumptions used in calculating the value in use  by the  

Group's management  consist  of:  discount  rate,  salary expenses in relation  to revenues  and  

growth rate. The discount  rate underlying the cash  flows is 8.5%, whereby the calculation  

of  the  average capital  price takes  into  consideration a gross  average debt  price of  about  

2.25%  and equity price  of  about  10.50%.  According  to the valuation, the recoverable  

amount  is NIS 2,118  million.   

With respect  to  the assumptions used to determine the  value of  use of  the unit  described  

above, management  believes  that  there are no possible changes to the key assumptions  

outlined above that  could cause  the balance  of  the  unit's financial  statements to significantly  

exceed the recoverable amount.  

The cash flow projections  were made for  the period 2021-2025  and for a period exceeding

5 years and were estimated using a constant  growth rate of 1.5%.   

Information Technologies  (IT) Software solutions and services in USA.:

Total  goodwill  as of  December  31, 2020  in the amount  of  NIS  252,030  thousand  (total  

goodwill  as  of  December  31, 2019- NIS  261,787  thousand).  The recoverable amount  of  the  

software  solutions  and services unit  was determined based on the value in  use  which is  

calculated  according  to the expected  estimated  future cash flows  from  this cash-generating  

unit, as  determined according to the budget  for  the next  five years and approved  by the  

Group's management. The  key assumptions used in calculating the value in use by the  

Group's management  consist  of:  discount  rate.  The  discount  rate  underlying the  cash flows  

is 10.8%, whereby the calculation of  the average capital  price  takes into consideration a  

gross average debt  price  of about  1.7% and equity price of  about  11%. The cash flows for  

the period exceeding the five years  budget  will  be estimated using a fixed growth  rate of  

2.5%, representing half of the growth rate of the operation in the forecast period for  2021-

2025.  

With respect to  the easements set forth in IAS 36, as of December 31, 2020, the Company  

did not  conduct  an impairment  test  for  the U.S. Solution and Information Technology  

Services  segment  and relied on the calculation made  in the prior  period, based  on the  

assumptions used to determine the value  of  use  of  the unit  described above. Management  

believes that  no changes  are possible  that  key assumptions outlined above, could cause  the  

balance  in the unit's financial statements to significantly exceed the recoverable amount.  

- 54 -



  
   

   

 
 

  

  

  

 
  

  

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

   

   
 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE  11:- CREDIT FROM BANKS AND OTHERS
     

       
     

        
        

         

       

   
         

   
        

   
        

      

      

Linkage 
basis 

Interest 
Rate 

December 31, 
2020 2019 

% NIS in thousands 

Bank overdrafts Unlinked 2.25-3.1 - 2,003 

Short-term loans from banks Unlinked 1.6 36,511 100,006 

Commercial securities not listed Unlinked 0.75 100,000 100,000 

Current maturities of long-term 
loans from banks 

Linked to 
USD Libor +2.2 2,572 2,765 

Current maturities of long-term 
loans from banks Unlinked 3.45 395 558 

Current maturities of long-term 
loans from banks Unlinked 2-2.78 210,463 157,556 

349,941 362,888 


 

NOTE  12:- TRADE PAYABLES 
  
    
  

     
     

     

     

     

     

     

    

    

December 31, 
2020 2019 

NIS in thousands 

Open accounts: 
In NIS 156,134 122,775 

In foreign currency 111,936 84,400 

Checks payable 24,362 31,261 

Accrued expenses 133,915 143,577 

Related parties 13 7 

426,360 382,020 

NOTE  13:- OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
  
    

   
     

     

    

    

     
     

    

    

December 31, 
2020 2019 

NIS in thousands 

Government authorities 50,413 47,920 
Advances from customers 3,372 5,971 
Related parties - 23 
Non-Controlling Interest Shareholders 1,700 5,321 
Other accounts payable 5,566 4,392 

61,051 63,627 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 14:- LEASES  

Disclosures  for lease transactions in which the company is a lessee:  

The Company  has entered  into leases  of  buildings  and vehicles which are  used for  the Company's 

operations.  

Leases of  buildings have  lease terms of  between 3 and  7  years whereas  leases  of  machinery and  

equipment and vehicles have lease terms of  between 2  and 3  years.  

Some  of  the leases  entered into by the Company include extension  and/or  termination options and 

variable lease payments.  

As for  lease engagements,  see  note 18c  (1)  and 18c (2)  below.

a.  Information on leases: 

  
 

 
  
     

Year ended 
December 31, 2019 

Year ended 
December 31, 2020

NIS in thousands
 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 5,402 4,178 

Total negative cash flow for leases 82,550 80,055 

b.  Disclosures  in respect of  right-of-use  assets:

Vehicles  
Land and 
buildings   Total 
 NIS in thousands  

Cost:  

Balance as of January 1, 2020 70,390 151,406 221,796

Additions during the year:  
New  leases  95 38,124 38,219 
Adjustments arising from translating  

financial statements of foreign 
operations  292  12,262  12,554 
Initially consolidated company  8,005 8,005 
Foreign currency translation 
adjustments (112) (207) (319) 

Disposals during the year: 
Termination of leases (5,002) (6,717) (11,719) 

Balance as of December 31, 2020  65,663 202,873 268,536 

Accumulated amortization: 

Balance as of January 1, 2020 37,041 45,181 82,222

Additions during the year: 
Depreciation  and  amortization 24,908 49,441 74,349 

Disposals during the year: 
Termination of leases (5,002) (6,717) (11,719) 

Balance as of December 31, 2020  56,947 87,905 144,852 

Net Balance as of December 31, 2020  8,716 114,968 123,684 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 14:- LEASES (CONT.) 

c.  Maturity analysis of undiscounted future lease payments receivable for operating leases: 

   
 

 
  

     

     

     

     

     

     

      

     

Year ended 
December 31, 2020 

Year ended 
December 31, 2019
 

NIS in thousands
 

First year 58,725 80,411 

Second year 42,450 46,196 

Third year and thereafter 26,634 18,267 

Total undiscounted lease payments 127,809 144,874 

Current maturities 58,725 80,411 

Non -current costs 69,084 64,463 

NOTE 15:- LOANS FROM BANKS AND OTHERS 

a.  Composition: 
     

        
    

  
 

 

 

    

 
 

  

 
 

 
     

           
         

        
        

        
        

December 31, 2020 
December 31, 

2019 
Interest rate 

as of 
December 31, 

2020 Total 
Current 

maturities 

Total less 
current 

maturities 

Total less 
current 

maturities 
Linkage basis: % NIS in thousands 

Linked to USD Libor +2.2 3,215 2,572 643 3,523 
Unlinked 2-2.78 746,893 210,463 536,430 502,825 
Unlinked 3.45 395 395 - 412 

750,503 213,430 537,073 506,760 

b.  Maturity dates after the reporting date: 

 
  

 
   

 

  
     

      

    

    

    

    

    

   

December 31, 
2020 

December 31, 
2019 

NIS in thousands 

First year (Current maturities) 214,430 160,879 

Second year 202,597 156,302 

Third year 173,050 146,878 

Fourth year 122,216 116,896 

Fifth year and thereafter 39,210 86,684 

750,503 667,639 

c.  As for financial covenants, see note 18c(4) below. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE  16:- EMPLOYEE  BENEFIT LIABILITIES 

Employee  benefits consist  of  post-employment  benefits, other  long-term  benefits and termination  

benefits. 

a.  Post-employment benefits:

According to the labor  laws  and Severance Pay Law  in Israel, the Group  is required to pay  

compensation to an employee  upon dismissal  or  retirement  or  to make current  contributions  

in defined contribution plans pursuant  to section  14 to the Severance  Pay Law, as  specified 

below. The Group's liability is accounted for  as  a post-employment  benefit. The  

computation of  the  Group's employee  benefit  liability is  made  according to the  current  

employment  contract  based on the employee's salary and employment  term  which establish  

the entitlement to receive the compensation.  

The post-employment  employee  benefits are normally  financed  by contributions classified  

as defined benefit  plan or  defined contribution plan, as detailed below.  

1. Defined contribution plans: 

Section 14 to the Severance Pay Law, 1963 applies to part of the compensation 

payments, pursuant to which the fixed contributions paid by the Group into pension 

funds and/or policies of insurance companies release the Group from any additional 

liability to employees for whom said contributions were made. These contributions 

and contributions for compensation represent defined contribution plans. 

2. Defined benefit plans: 

The Group accounts for that part of the payment of compensation that is not covered 

by contributions in defined contribution plans, as above, as a defined benefit plan for 

which an employee benefit liability is recognized and for which the Group deposits 

amounts in central severance pay funds and in qualifying insurance policies. 

3. Long term benefit plan: 

According to the Company's agreements with a senior officer, he is entitled to an 

adaptation bonus in the amount of 12 salaries. This liability has been recognized as 

a defined benefit. Starting of October 1, 2020 the adaptation bonus applied. 

b. Composition of defined benefit plans: 

  
    

   

     

      

      

     

      

December 31,
 
2020 2019

NIS in thousands
 

Present value of financed obligations 298,491 272,593 

Fair value of plan assets (268,072) (243,669) 

Present value of non-financed obligations, net 30,419 28,924 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 16:- EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES (CONT.) 

c.  The movement in the fair value of the plan assets: 

    
  

     
      

     
      

     
     

     

     
     

2020 2019 
NIS in thousands 

Balance as of January 1 243,669 239,215 
Expected return on plan assets 4,818 5,695 
Actuarial gain from defined benefit plans 66 8,313 
Contributions by employer 17,725 22,855 
Benefits paid (24,780) (32,409) 
Business combinations and others 26,574 -

Balance as of December 31 268,072 243,669 

d.  Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation: 

    
  

     
      

     
      

        
     

     
     

     

2020 2019 
NIS in thousands 

Balance as of January 1, 2020 272,593 264,226 
Current service cost 21,443 22,150 
Interest expense 6,198 9,755 
Net actuarial gain (losses) (2,158) 7,944 
Benefits paid (28,469) (31,502) 
Business combinations and others 28,884 20 

Balance as of December 31, 2020 298,491 272,593 

e. 	 Expenses carried to the statement of comprehensive income: 

  
      

   
       

       
        

       
         

       

 
 

     

Year ended December 31, 
2020 2019 2018 

NIS in thousands 

Current service cost 21,443 22,150 23,722 
Interest cost 6,198 9,755 8,009 
Expected return on plan assets (4,818) (5,695) (5,313) 
Actuarial gains (2,224) (369) (1,315) 

Total expense recognized in 
comprehensive income 20,599 25,841 25,103 

f. 	 The expenses are included in the statement of comprehensive income in the following 

items: 

  
      

   

       

Year ended December 31, 
2020 2019 2018 

NIS in thousands 

Cost of sales  20,084  23,065  23,248 
Selling and marketing expenses 456  524   528 
General and administrative expenses  2,283  2,621  2,642 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 16:- EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES (CONT.) 

g. The principal actuarial assumptions: 

Year ended December 31, 
2020 2019 2018 

% 

Discount rate of the plan liabilities 2.15 3.69 3.02 

Expected real salary increases rate 0-4 0-4 0-4 

The expected return on plan assets is equivalent to the average weighted return for each 

type of asset in the employee defined benefit plan. Moreover, the actual return on plan 

assets in 2020, 2019 and 2018 was NIS 4,818 thousand, NIS 5,695 thousand and NIS 5,313 

thousand, respectively. 

h. Amounts, timing and uncertainties involving future cash flows: 

Defined benefit
obligation
 

NIS in thousands
 
As of December 31, 2020: 

Sensitivity test for changes in the expected rate of salary 
increase: 

The change as a result of:

Salary increase of 1% (5,240)
Salary decrease of 1% 3,568


Sensitivity test for changes in the discount rate of the plan assets 
and liability: 

The change as a result of:
Increase of 1% in discount rate 3,488
Decrease of 1% in discount rate (5,246)

i. Expenses in the period in respect of defined contribution plans: 

Year ended December 31, 
2020 2019 2018 

NIS in thousands 

Total expense recognized in respect of 

defined contribution plans 79,002 74,944 53,018 

- 60 -



  
   

   

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

           

    

      

  

         

        

         

       

 

 

  

          

 

 

         
   

 

         

   

 

 

           

             

     

 

 

     

       

    

  




 

MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE  17:- TAXES ON INCOME  

a.  Tax laws applicable to the Group companies:  

Income Tax (Inflationary Adjustments) Law, 1985: 

According to the law, until 2007, the results for tax purposes were adjusted for the changes 

in the Israeli CPI. 

In February 2008, the "Knesset" (Israeli parliament) passed an amendment to the Income 

Tax (Inflationary Adjustments) Law, 1985, which limits the scope of the law starting 2008 

and thereafter. Since 2008, the results for tax purposes are measured in nominal values, 

excluding certain adjustments for changes in the Israeli CPI carried out in the period up to 

December 31, 2007. Adjustments relating to capital gains such as for sale of property 

(betterment) and securities, continue to apply until disposal. Since 2008, the amendment to 

the law includes, among others, the cancellation of the inflationary additions and 

deductions and the additional deduction for depreciation (in respect of depreciable assets 

purchased after the 2007 tax year). 

b.  Tax rates applicable to the Group:  

The Israeli corporate tax rate was 23%  in 2018-2020. 
 
 
Companies are levied by Real Capital Tax, at the rate of corporate income tax, in the 

period of disposal.
 

The main tax rates applicable to the subsidiaries whose place of incorporation 
is outside Israel is: 

Companies incorporated in the U.S. - weighted tax at the rate of about 27% (Federal 

tax, State tax and Municipal tax of the city where the company operates). 

c.  Structure changes in the Group:  

On June 11, 2020, a tax ruling was signed determining that effective December 31, 2019 

as part of a merger process, 3 companies in the Group will transfer all their assets and 

liabilities, subject to the provisions of section 103 of the Income Tax Ordinance. 

d.  Final  tax assessments:   

The Company has received final tax assessments (or assessments that are deemed final) 

through and including 2017 tax year. The subsidiaries have received final tax assessments 

(or assessments that are deemed final) through and including 2015 tax year. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 17:- TAXES ON INCOME (CONT.)
 

e. Carryforward losses for tax purposes and other temporary differences: 

Carryforward net operating tax losses and capital losses of the Group amounts to 

approximately NIS 94,945 thousand as of December 31, 2020. The majority of the Group's 

carryforward losses result from Israeli companies, therefore, the utilization period of these 

losses is unlimited. 

Deferred tax assets relating to carryforward of operating losses of approximately 

NIS 32,792 thousands were not recognized because their utilization in the foreseeable 

future is not probable. 

f. Deferred taxes: 

1. Composition: 

Provision 

for 

vacation 

Fixed assets 

and 

intangible 

assets 

Carryforward 

tax losses 
Employee 

benefits 

Temporary 
difference 
s due to 

cash basis 
adjustment 

Allowance 
for 

doubtful 
accounts

Employee 
options Leases 

Other 
temporary 
differences Total 

Balance as of January 
1, 2018 9,199 (7,584) 19,985 5,358 (12,832) 1,097 - - 661 15,884 

Initially consolidated 
company - * (6,428) - - - - - - - * (6,428) 

Capital Fund - (250) - (302) - - - - - (552) 
Change recorded in the 

statement of 
comprehensive 
income 529 2,755 (5,672) 697 11,184 143 1,092 - (141) 10,587 

Balance as of January 
1, 2019 9,728 (*(11,507) 14,313 5,753 (1,648) 1,240 1,092 - 520 *19,491 

Initially consolidated 
company 84 (13,746) - 624 - 290 - - - (12,748) 

Capital Fund - 222 - (85) - - 150 - - 287 
Lease liabilities - - - - - - - 32,000 - 32,000 
Right-of-use assets - - - - - - - (32,000) - (32,000) 
Change recorded in the 

statement of 
comprehensive 
income 1,424 4,217 1,281 360 906 (52) 182 - 160 8,478 

Balance as of 
December 31, 2019 11,236 (20,814) 15,594 6,652 (742) 1,478 1,424 - 680 15,508 

Initially consolidated 
company 1,092 (13,176) - 503 - 209 - 911 - (10,461) 

Capital Fund - 133 - (512) - - 260 - - (119) 
Change recorded in the 

statement of 
comprehensive 
income 4,746 4,521 (1,299) 353 57 581 (130) (302) 949 9,476 

Balance as of 
December 31, 2020 17,074 (29,336) 14,295 6,996 (685) 2,268 1,554 1,289 949 14,404 

*) Immaterial adjustment of comparative data - see Note 3 

The deferred taxes are computed at the tax rate of 23% based on the tax rates that are expected to 

apply to the Group upon reversal of the temporary differences in their respect 2018-2020 23% 

and 27% in USA assets. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 17:- TAXES ON INCOME (CONT.) 

g. Taxes on income included in the statement of comprehensive income: 

Year ended December 31, 
2020 2019 2018 

NIS in thousands 

Current taxes 64,473 54,891 58,355 
Deferred taxes (9,476) (8,478) (10,587) 
Taxes in respect of previous years 1,084 207 (459) 

56,081 46,620 47,309 

h. Taxes on income relating to other comprehensive income items: 

Year ended December 31, 
2020 2019 2018 

NIS in thousands 

Tax benefit on actuarial gains (512) (85) (302) 

i. Theoretical tax: 

The reconciliation between the tax expense, assuming that all the income, expenses, gains 

and losses in the comprehensive income were taxed at the statutory tax rate and the taxes 

on income recorded in comprehensive income is as follows: 
Year ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
 
NIS in thousands
 

Income before taxes on income 246,931 213,529 191,552 

Statutory tax rate 23% 23% 23% 

Tax computed at the statutory tax rate 56,794 49,111 44,057 

Increase (decrease) in taxes on income 
resulting from the following: 

Unrecognized temporary differences - (950) -
Unrecognized expenses and 

depreciation for tax purposes, net 408 2,755 2,385 
First-time creation of deferred taxes (3,699) (3,732) (907) 
Deferred taxes recorded at difference 

tax rates 1,494 1,328 3,339 
Company's share in losses of associated 

company - (21) (4) 
Taxes in respect of previous years 1,084 (1,871) (1,561) 

56,081 46,620 47,309 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE  18:-  COLLATERAL, GUARANTEES, CONTIGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS  

a. 	 	 Collaterals:  

As of December 31, 2020, the Group has not recorded any material collateral. 

b. 	 	 Contingent liabilities:  

Litigation: 

Several legal claims have been filed against the Company and the subsidiaries in the 

ordinary course of business in the reporting period and in previous periods in an aggregate 

of approximately NIS 17.2 million. The Group's management estimates, based on its legal 

counsel opinion regarding the chances of these claims, the provisions included in the 

financial statements for covering any potential exposure arising from these claims are 

adequate. 

c. 	 	 Engagements:  

1.	 In October 2018, The Company has renewed into a real estate lease agreement with 

Ofer Brothers Properties Ltd. according to which the Company leases office spaces 

in Herzliya, Israel. The lease term is expected to end in October 2023. The cost of 

rent is 10 million NIS yearly. 

2.	 In September 2015, John Bryce ("JB" – the Company's subsidiary) has entered into 

a real-estate lease agreement with an unrelated third party for a period of 8 years and 

an option for additional 5 years. The expected lease fees are approximately NIS 7 

million per annum. With regard to the agreement, the Company provided a guarantee 

for the fulfillment of JB's liabilities. 

3. The Company and its subsidiaries insure themselves in bodily injury and property 

damage insurance policies, including third party, professional liability employer's 

liability, and designated cyber insurance policies. 

The Company's directors and officers are insured under D&O policy for insurance 

of directors and officers including D&O side A DIC policy (another layer of 

protection for officers) for a period of 12 months from June 17, 2020 (in July 23, 

2020 the Company's organs confirmed the company's participation in the 

aforementioned policy). 

4. In the context of the Group's engagements with banks for receiving credit facilities, 

the Group has undertaken to maintain the following financial covenants, as they will 

be expressed in its financial statements, as described: 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 18:- COLLATERAL, GUARANTEES, CONTIGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 
(CONT.) 

a) The total rate of the Group's debts and liabilities to banks with the addition of 

debts in respect of debentures that have been issued by it (collectively, "the 

debts") will not exceed 40% of total balance sheet. 

b) The ratio of the Group's debts less cash to the annual EBITDA will not exceed 

3.5. 

c) The equity shall not be lower than NIS 275 million at all times. 

d) The balances of cash and short-term investments in the balance sheet shall not 

be lower than NIS 50 million. As per the issuance of Non commercial 

securities, the company committed to have cash balance of approximately 100 

million. 

e) The Company has committed that the rate of ownership and control of the 

Matrix IT-Systems will never be less than 50.1% 

f) The Group will not create any pledge on all or part of its property and assets 

in favor of any third party, and will not provide any guarantee to secure any 

third party's debts as they are today and as they will be without the banks' 

consent (except of first fixed pledge on asset which it`s acquisition will be 

financed by a third party which the pledge will be in favor of him). 

g) The Group will not sell and/or transfer all or part of its assets to others in any 

manner whatsoever without the banks' advance written consent, unless it is 

done in the normal course of business. 

As of December 31, 2020, the Company is meeting the abovementioned financial 

covenants 

d. 	 	 Engagement with the Company's CEO:  

During 2019, Mr. Gutman provided management services to the Company in accordance 

with the Management Services Agreement, approved on October 29, 2015, with Revava 

Management Ltd. through which Mr. Moti Gutman provides the Company CEO services, 

effective from January 1, 2015 until December 31, 2017. On December 31, 2017, the 

Company entered into a new agreement for the provision of management services with a 

company under the control of Mr. Gutman as aforesaid, for a period of five years, from 

January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2022 (the "New Agreement"). According to the new 

agreement, on January 16, 2018 the Company granted to Mr. Guttman, for no 

consideration, 256,890 restricted share units (the "RSU's") exercisable into 256,890 

ordinary shares of the Company with no exercise price. The RSU's shall vest into shares in 

five equal portions commencing on December 31, 2018, and then every year until 

December 31, 2022, but in any case not prior to the publication of the Company's periodic 

financial statements for the previous year ( see also Note 20). 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 18:- COLLATERAL, GUARANTEES, CONTIGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 
(CONT.) 

e. Guarantees: 

1.	 The Company and the subsidiaries provided each other cross guarantees. 

2.	 The Company and the subsidiaries provided performance guarantees in favor of 

customers totaling approximately NIS 134.7 million. 

3.	 The Company and the subsidiaries provided guarantees for the payment of rent 

totaling approximately NIS 19.1 million. 

NOTE 19:- EQUITY 

a.	 Composition of share capital: 

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Authorized
Issued and 
outstanding Authorized 

Issued and 
outstanding 

Number of shares 

Ordinary shares of NIS 1 
par value each 100,000 62,791 100,000 62,739 

b. Movement in share capital: 

2020 2019 2018 
Ordinary shares of NIS 1 par value each 

Number of shares 

Balance as of January 1 62,739,389 62,333,041 61,934,324 
Exercise of options and RSU's into shares 51,378 406,348 398,717 

Balance as of December 31 62,790,767 62,739,389 62,333,041 

c. Rights attached to shares: 

Ordinary shares of NIS 1 par value each confer their holders voting rights at the general 

meeting, rights to dividends and rights to participate in the distribution of the Company's 

assets upon liquidation. The shares are quoted on the Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange. 

d. Treasury shares - Company shares held by the Company and subsidiaries: 

The holdings of the Company and its subsidiaries in the Company's shares are as follows: 

December 31, 
2020 2019 

% 

Percentage of issued share capital 1.04 1.04 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 19:- EQUITY (CONT.) 

e.	 Dividends paid to the shareholders: 

The following table presents the dividend distributions effected in the reporting periods: 

Date of distribution 
decision by the Board 

Actual date of 
distribution 

Amount 
distributed per 

share (in Agorot) 

Overall amount 
distributed (NIS 

in thousands) 

March 12, 2018 March 27, 2018 48 29,606 

May 13, 2018 June 24, 2018 42 25,905 

August 12, 2018 September 6, 2018 40 24,671 

November 13, 2018 December 24, 2018 36 22,205 

March 12, 2019 March 28, 2019 50 31,043 

May 16, 2019 June 27, 2019 44 27,318 

August 13, 2019 September 22, 2019 43 26,696 

November 13, 2018 December 26, 2018 50 31,042 

March 12, 2020 March 29, 2020 57 35,418 

May 26, 2020 June 25, 2020 47 29,204 

August 10, 2020 September 17, 2020 47 29,204 

November 12, 2020 December 20, 2020 50 31,069 

The Company's dividend distribution policy is to distribute annually dividend at a rate of 

up to 75% of its annual net income. The dividend will be distributed on a quarterly basis. 

Subject to compliance with the distribution criteria, according to the law in the relevant 

date. 

f.	 Capital management in the Group: 

1.	 The Group's principal capital management objective is to secure the ability to create 

a fixed return to the shareholders through capital increase or distributions and 

through payment of an annual dividend. In order to meet this objective, the Group 

strives to maintain a leverage ratio that reasonably balances the risks and rewards 

and to maintain a financial base that will allow the Group to respond to its investment 

and working capital needs. In making decisions regarding changes in the Group's 

capital structure aimed at achieving this objective, whether by revising the dividend 

distribution policy, issuing capital or reducing the Group's debt, the Group not only 

considers its short-term position but also its long-term targets. The Group defines 

the leverage ratio as the ratio between the liabilities to banks less cash and cash 

equivalents and less other financial assets and the Group's capital as defined above. 

2.	 The Group examines the total cash and cash equivalents with the addition of financial 

assets in relation to liabilities to banks. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 19:- EQUITY (CONT.) 

3.	 The Group's policy is to meet the financial covenants undertaken with banks. 

As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the Company is complying with the financial 

covenants detailed in note 18.c.(4) above. 

Condensed quantitative data on differences managed by the Company in respect of: 

December 31,
2020 2019

NIS in thousands
 

Cash and cash equivalents 644,261 459,288 
Liabilities to banks and others (887,014) (869,648) 

Net debt (242,753) (410,360) 

Total debts 887,014 869,648 

Ratio of debt to total balance sheet 27.5% 29.4% 
Ratio of net debt to total balance sheet 7.5% 13.9% 
Total capital 824,912 740,534 

Capital to total balance sheet ratio	 25.6% 25% 

NOTE 20:- SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 

a.	 Expenses recognized in the financial statements: 

The following table describe the expense recognized in the financial statements for 

employee services received: 

Year ended December 31,
2020 2019 2019


NIS in thousands
 

Equity-settled share-based payment plans 7,626 8,464 5,609 

The share-based payment transactions that the Company granted to its employees are 

described below. There have been no modifications or cancellations to any of the employee 

benefit plans during 2020, 2019 or 2018. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 20:- SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONT.) 

b.  The Company's  existing share-based payment  plans:  

Grant of Restricted stock units (RSU) to the Company's CEO: 

On October 29, 2015 the Company's approved an agreement with Revava Management 

company Ltd. through which Mr. Moti Gutman provides services to the company as a CEO, 

in which among other things, the Company granted Mr. Gutman 225,000 restricted share 

units (RSU) exercisable into 225,000 ordinary shares of the company without an exercise 

price. The RSU will vest in three equal portions of 75,000 RSU units, each portion at 

December 31 of each agreement year, but not before the issuance of the Company's 

financial statements for the past year, and subject to certain conditions. In 2016, 75,000 

restricted share units (RSU) were vested and exercised. As of the balance sheet date, Mr. 

Gutman holds 75,000 restricted share units (RSU). On January 16, 2018, Mr. Gutman was 

allotted 256,980 additional restricted share units (RSU). For further details, see Note 18 

above. The RSU will be converted into shares in five equal portions commencing from 

December 31, 2018 and every subsequent year until December 31, 2022, but in any case 

not prior to the date of publication of the Company's periodic financial statements for the 

past year. As per Balance sheet date, Mr Gutman holds 154,134 RSU. 

Share-based payment plan for senior managers: 

On January 1, 2019, after receiving the Compensation Committee's approval, the 

Company's Board of Directors approved the allocation of 1,440,000 options exercisable up 

to 1,440,000 ordinary shares of NIS 1 par value for free, to 20 officers and senior employees 

of the Company or of its controlled companies. The exercise of the options at the date of 

grant is NIS 41.7. The price is subject to adjustment, including when distributing a 

dividend. 

At the actual exercise, shares will only be issued, according the value of the benefit 

embodied in the options ("net exercise mechanism"). The company will receive no 

consideration in cash. 

On February 12, 2019, after the approval of the Compensation Committee, and the 

Company's Board of Directors, the General Meeting approved the issuance of 80,000 

options exercisable up to 80,000 ordinary shares, 1 for no consideration to the President 

and Deputy Chairman of the Company's Board of Directors. The exercise price of the 

option was NIS 43.16 at the date of grant, and is subject to adjustments, including when 

distributing a dividend. 

The fair value of the options is estimated on the day of grant in accordance with the
 
binomial model based on the terms which are: risk-free interest rate is 0.5% -1.6%, the
 
early exercise factor is 70% and the expected volatility is 24%.
 
The contractual  life of  the stock options is 5 years from the grant date.
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 20:- SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONT.) 

c.	 Movement during the year: 

The following table lists the number of share options, the weighted average exercise prices 

of share options and modification in employee option plans during the current year: 

2020	 2019 2018 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Number of 

options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Number of 

options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
NIS in thousands 

Share options and RSU 
outstanding at beginning of 
year 1,725,512 35.15 769,390 9.63 1,100,000 15.02 

Share options granted during 
the year - 1,520,000 41.95 - -

Share options forfeited during 
the year - - - - - -

Restricted share units (RSU) 
to the Company's CEO - - - - 256,890 -

Share options and RSU 
exercised during the year (51,378) - (563,878) 13.14 (587,500) 14.06 

Share options and RSU 
outstanding at end of year 1,674,134 34.41 1,725,512 35.15 769,390 9.63 

Share options and RSU 
exercisable at end of year 51,378 - 51,378 - 51,378 -

d.	 The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as of 

December 31, 2020 is 2 years (as of December 31, 2019 - three year). 

e. The range of exercise prices for options into shares as of December 31, 2020 was NIS 0 – 
NIS 39.28 (as of December 31, 2019 - NIS 0 – NIS 41.29). 

f.	 Measurement of the fair value of equity-settled share options: 

The Company uses the Binomial model when measuring the fair value of equity-settled 

share options. The measurement was made at the grant of equity-settled share options since 

the options were granted to employees. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 21:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

a. Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities: 

The financial assets and financial liabilities in the statement of financial position are 

classified by groups of financial instruments pursuant to IFRS 9: 

December 31,
2020 2019

NIS in thousands
Financial assets: 

Loans and receivables 1,107,844 1,200,364 

Financial liabilities: 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 1,862,228 1,767,944 

Financial liabilities Designated as such upon 
initial recognition 122,582 122,890 

b. Financial risks factors: 

The Group's activities expose it to various financial risks such as market risk (including 

foreign exchange risk, fair value risk in respect of interest rate and price risk), credit risk, 

liquidity risk and cash flow risk in respect of interest rate. The Group's comprehensive risk 

management plan focuses on activities that reduce to a minimum any possible adverse 

effects on the Group's financial performance. 

The Group's finance department identifies and assesses the financial risks and they are 

managed by the Company's CFO and the investment committee established by the Board. 

The Board has not established specific policies with respect to certain exposures to risks 

such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of derivative financial 

instruments and non-derivative financial instruments and the investments of excess liquid 

positions. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 21:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.) 

Market  risks:   

a)  Foreign currency risk:  

Foreign currency risk arises from transactions, recognized assets and 

recognized liabilities denominated in foreign currency that is not the 

functional currency and from net investments in foreign operations. 

The Group's policy is to allow the Group entities to pay liabilities denominated 

in their functional currency (mainly NIS) using the cash flows generated by 

each entity's activities. When the Group entities have liabilities denominated 

in foreign currency that is not their functional currency (and have no sufficient 

cash balances in this currency to settle the liabilities), the Group, if possible, 

transfers cash balances from one Group entity to the other. 

The software products marketing and implementation segment is exposed to 

currency risk in respect of current purchases from U.S. suppliers. These 

acquisitions occur on a regular basis. The effect of fluctuations in the 

exchange rates on trade payables denominated in dollars is offset by the 

balance of trade receivables denominated in dollars. 

As of the reporting date, the Group has a net assets balance denominated in 

dollars, totaling to NIS 274,616 thousand (as of December 31, 2019 -

NIS 117,927 thousand). 

The Group has an investment in a foreign operation whose net financial assets 

are exposed to possible fluctuations in the U.S. dollar exchange rate. The 

currency exposure arising from the foreign operation's net financial assets in 

the U.S. is mainly managed by the CFO. 

b)  Interest  rate  risk:  

The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from long-term loans received. 

Loans that bear variable interest rates expose the Group to interest rate risk in 

respect of cash flows. The majority of long-term loans received in the last two 

years were at fixed interest, which minimizes the exposure to interest. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 21:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)
 

Details of the interest type of the Group's interest-bearing financial 

instruments: 

December 31, 
2020 2019 

NIS in thousands 

Fixed interest instruments: 

Financial liabilities (747,931) (748,277) 

Variable interest instruments: 
Financial liabilities (139,083) (204,768) 

2.  Credit risk:  

Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations as a customer or 

under a financial instrument leading to a loss to the Group. Credit risk mainly arises 

from the Group's customers and from investments in corporate debentures. 

a)  Trade receivables:  

Before accepting new customers, the Group runs a credit check on the 

prospective customers using a reliable outside source. This information is used 

to determine payment terms and credit limits which are approved based on the 

size of the customer. Cases of exceeding credit limits are approved (according 

to procedures) depending on each specific case and based on past experience 

with the specific customer. Customers that consistently fail to meet their credit 

terms are required to make advance payments for any additional purchases 

until their credit rating can be re-reestablished. 

The examination  of  provision for  impairment  is  determined at  each specific  

reporting  date.   

b)  Investment in cash and cash equivalents:  

The Group holds cash and cash equivalents, short and long-term investments 

and other financial instruments in various financial institutions. According to 

the Group's policy, ongoing credit evaluations are made to determine the 

credit strength of those financial institutions. 

As of December 31, 2020, cash and cash equivalents total approximately 

NIS 644,261 thousand. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 21:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.) 

3. Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk arises from managing the Group's working capital as well as from 

financial expenses and principal payments of the Group's debt instruments. Liquidity 

risk consists of the risk that the Group will have difficulty in fulfilling obligations 

relating to financial liabilities. 

The Group's policy is to ascertain constant cash adequacy needed for settling its 

liabilities when due. For this purpose, the Group aims to hold cash balances (or 

adequate credit lines) that will meet anticipated demands. The Group finances 

business combinations using long-term loans for average periods of 3-6 years. 

The company apply to a rating company every year. As of December 31, 2020, the 

company has Aa3 issuer rating with stable rating. 

The Group examines cash flow forecasts on a monthly basis as well as information 

regarding cash balances and the Group's investments in corporate debentures. As of 

the reporting date, these forecasts indicate that the Group can expect sufficient liquid 

sources for covering its entire liabilities under reasonable assumptions. 

The table (1) below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group's financial 

liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments (including interest 

payments): 

December 31, 2020: 
First 
year 

Second 
year 

Third 
year 

Fourth 
year 

Fifth 
year Total 

NIS in thousands 

Trade payables 426,360 - - - - 426,360 

Other payables 57,680 - - - - 57,680 

Employee benefit 
liabilities 363,365 - - - - 363,365 

Loans from banks 349,941 202,597 1703,050 122,216 39,210 887,014 

Leases 58,725 42,450 26,634 - - 127,809 

1,256,071 245,047 199,684 122,216 39,210 1,862,228 

December 31, 2019: 
First 
year 

Second 
year 

Third 
year 

Fourth 
year 

Fifth 
year Total 

NIS in thousands 

Trade payables 382,020 - - - - 382,020 

Other payables 57,656 - - - - 57,656 

Employee benefit 
liabilities 313,746 - - - - 313,746 

Loans from banks 362,888 156,302 146,878 116,896 86,684 869,648 

80,411 46,196 18,267 - - 144,874 

1,196,721 202,498 165,145 116,896 86,684 1,767,944 

(1) The above tables do not include liabilities in respect of business combinations. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 21:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.) 

c.  Fair  value:  

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, trade 

receivables, other accounts receivable, short-term loans granted, credit from banks and 

others, trade payables and others and other accounts payable approximates their fair value. 

Marketable assets and 

liabilities  

- Based on quoted prices  in an  active market  as of  the  

reporting date.  

Interest-bearing short-term  

non-marketable assets 

and liabilities with fixed 

maturities  

- The carrying amount  reflects  the fair  value  as  of  the  

reporting date since  their  average  interest  rate is  not  

materially  different  from  standard  market  rate for  similar  

items as of the reporting date.  

Assets and liabilities with 

no maturities  

- Fair  value  is determined  at  the amount  payable upon  

demand on the reporting date.  

Assets and liabilities  at  

variable interest  

- The fair  value of  assets and liabilities  at  variable  interest  

which do not  involve a material credit  risk is based on their  

carrying amount.  

Long-term  loans at fixed 		
interest 	 	 

- The fair  value of  long-term  loans bearing fixed interest  is  

based  on the  calculation of  the  present  value of  cash  flows  

using  the standard interest  rate  for  similar  loans with  similar  

characteristics.  

Put options  of  non-

controlling interests  

- The fair  value is based on market  price. In the absence of  

market price, the fair  value is based on economic models.  

Guarantees and liabilities		   
to grant  loans 	 	 

- The fair  value is based on  the amount  payable as  of  the  

reporting date  for  similar  engagements  taking  into  

consideration the remaining  period of  the agreement  and the  

credit  strength of the parties to the contract.  

d.  Classification of financial  instruments by fair value hierarchy:   

The financial instruments presented in the statement of financial position at fair value are 

grouped into classes with similar characteristics using the following fair value hierarchy 

which is determined based on the source of input used in measuring fair value: 

Level  1  - quoted  prices (unadjusted)  in active  markets for  identical  assets or  

liabilities.  

Level  2  - inputs other  than quoted prices included within Level  1 that  are observable 

either  directly or  indirectly.  

Level  3  - inputs that  are not  based on  observable  market  data  (valuation  techniques  

which use inputs that  are not based on observable market data).  
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 21:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.) 

December 31, 2020: 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
NIS in thousands 

Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss: 
Put options of non-controlling interests - - 113,356 
Liabilities in respect of business 

combinations - - 9,226 

- - 122,582 

December 31, 2019: 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
NIS in thousands 

Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss: 
Put options of non-controlling interests - - 110,179
Liabilities in respect of business 

combinations - - 12,711

- - 122,890 

Financial assets measured at fair value: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
NIS in thousands 

Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss: 
embedded derivative - - 1,325 

- - 1,325 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 21:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.) 

e. Sensitivity tests relating to changes in market factors: 

December 31, 
2020 2019 


NIS in tho usands 
Sensitivity test to changes in interest rates: 
Profit (loss) from the change: 

Increase of 1% in interest (1,390) (2,048) 
Decrease of 1% in interest 1,390 2,048 

December 31, 
2020 2019 


NIS in tho usands 
Sensitivity test to changes in U.S. dollar exchange rates: 
Profit (loss) from the change: 

Increase of 5% in exchange rate 13,730 5,896 
Decrease of 5% in exchange rate (13,730) (5,896) 

Sensitivity tests and principal work assumptions: 

The selected changes in the relevant risk variables were determined based on management's 

estimate as to reasonable possible changes in these risk variables. 

The Group has performed sensitivity tests of principal market risk factors that are liable to 

affect its reported operating results or financial position. The sensitivity tests present the 

profit or loss and/or change in equity (before tax) in respect of each financial instrument 

for the relevant risk variable chosen for that instrument as of each reporting date. The test 

of risk factors was determined based on the materiality of the exposure of the operating 

results or financial condition of each risk with reference to the functional currency and 

assuming that all the other variables are constant. 

The Group is not exposed to interest rate risk in respect of long-term loans with fixed 

interest. 

The sensitivity test for long-term loans with variable interest is performed only on the 

variable component of interest. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTE 21:- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont.) 

f. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities: 

2020 

Balance at 
January 1, 

2020 Receipts Payments 
Net cash 

flows 

Effect of 
changes in 
exchange 

rates 

Effect of 
changes in 
fair value 

Distribution 
of dividends 

to non-
controlling 

interests 
Entrance to 

Consolidation 
Other 

changes 

Balance at 
December 31, 

2020 
NIS in thousands 

Short-term loans 202,009 - - (101,997) - - - 36,500 - 136,512 

Long-term loans 667,639 280,000 (197,111) - (87) - - - 62 750,503 

Put options of non-controlling interests 110,179 - (10,377) - 233 (5,137) (11,054) 61,238 (31,726) 113,356 

Finance lease obligation 144,874 - (75,554) - 252 - - 8,005 50,232 127,809 

Liabilities in respect for business combination 12,711 - (11,308) - (881) (216) - 3,462 5,458 9,226 

Total liabilities arising financing activities 1,137,412 280,000 (294,350) (101,997) (483) (5,353) (11,054) 109,205 24,026 1,137,406 

2019 

Balance at 
January 1, 

2019 Receipts Payments 
Net cash 

flows 

Effect of 
changes in 
exchange 

rates 

Effect of 
changes in 
fair value 

Distribution 
of dividends 

to non-
controlling 

interests 
Entrance to 

Consolidation 
Other 

changes 

Balance at 
December 31, 

2019 
NIS in thousands 

Short-term loans 6,762 - - 175,168 - - - 20,079 - 202,009 

Long-term loans 587,019 260,000  (178,361) - (1,176) - - - 157 667,639 

Put options of non-controlling interests 98,280 - (3,349) - (1,955) 8,083  (5,136) 19,700  (5,444) 110,179 

Finance lease obligation 236,493 1,896  (82,380)  (13,752)  (671) - - 3,288 - 144,874 

Liabilities in respect for business combination 20,754 - (6,403) - (1,088) - - - (552) 12,711 

Total liabilities arising financing activities 949,308 261,896 (270,493) 161,416  (4,890) 8,083  (5,136) 43,067  (5,839) 1,137,412 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 22:- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TO THE STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME ITEMS 

a. Revenues: 

Year ended December 31,
 
2020 2019 2018

NIS in thousands
 

Information Technologies (IT) Software 
solutions and services, Consulting & 
Management in Israel. 2,308,913 2,262,801 1,928,819 

Information Technologies (IT) Software 
solutions and services in USA. 358,310 384,027 396,859 

Software product marketing and support 190,577 183,774 148,990 
Computer infrastructure and cloud 

solutions 854,291 601,897 529,685 
Training and implementation 141,950 163,796 163,672 

3,854,041 3,596,295 3,168,025 

b. Cost of sales and services: 

Purchases 864,197 640,611 544,272 
Wages and related expenses 1,916,119 1,871,818 1,694,800 
Subcontractors 368,213 390,648 296,410 
Depreciation and amortization 60,251 66,518 12,111 
Motor vehicles 52,088 48,933 80,169 
Rent 9,515 11,025 24,353 
Maintenance and other expenses 58,415 50,158 54,761 

3,328,798 3,079,711 2,706,876 
Decrease (increase) in inventories (37,748)  (1,316) (3,911) 

3,291,050 3,078,395 2,702,965 

c. Selling and marketing expenses: 

Wages and related expenses 80,554 77,839 67,026 
Amortization 18,062 16,218 10,854 
Advertising and marketing 11,261 13,580 10,791 
Other 12,195 8,207 14,488 

122,072 115,844 103,159 

d. General and administrative expenses: 

Wages and related expenses 82,849 82,159 90,565 
Depreciation and amortization 46,453 41,241 7,787 
Doubtful accounts and bad debts 3,910 1,041 1,522 
Capital loss (gain) from sale of property, 

plant and equipment 257  (9) 5 
Rent 19,634 24,358 46,474 
Other expenses (1,317)  (1,477) (5,030) 

151,786 147,313 141,323 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 22:- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TO THE STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME ITEMS (Cont.) 

e. Financial income and expenses: 

Year ended December 31,
 
2020 2019 2018

NIS in thousands
Financial expenses: 
Expenses in respect of business 

combination and Put options 
revaluation 5,204 11,049 16,374 

Capitalization financial expenses 
IFRS16 4,178 5,402 -

Commissions, interest, differences and 
interest expenses on short and long-
term loans 25,059 21,210 16,691 

Exchange rate differences, net 7,761 4,132  (2,697) 

42,202 41,793 30,368 
Financial income: 
Income from debtors in respect of an 

embedded derivative transaction - 489 1,325 

- 489 1,325 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 23:- NET EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Details of the net income and par value of shares used in the calculation of net earnings per 

Ordinary share of NIS 1 par value and the adjustments made for the calculation of basic and fully 

diluted net earnings per share: 

Year ended December 31,
 
2020 2019 2018

NIS in thousands
Basic net earnings per share:
 

Net income attributable to equity holders of the 
Group 172,596 159,053 138,322 

Weighted number of shares 62,125,977 62,001,161 61,656,527 

Basic net earnings per share 2.78 2.57 2.24 

Diluted net earnings per share: 

Net income attributable to equity holders of the 
Group 172,596 159,053 138,322 

Weighted number of shares used to calculate 
basic net earnings per share 62,125,977 62,001,161 61,656,527 

Effect of potential dilutive Ordinary shares 829,899 579,668 380,152 

Adjusted weighted average number of shares 62,955,876 62,580,829 62,036,679 

Diluted net earnings per share 2.74 2.54 2.23 

NOTE 24:- INTERESTED AND RELATED PARTIES 

a. Balances: 

December 31, 2020: 
Parent 

company 
Related 
parties 

See Note NIS in thousands 

Trade receivables 6  - 3,113 
Trade and other payables 12-13  - 13 

December 31, 2019: 
Parent 

company 
Related 
parties 

See Note NIS in thousands 

Trade receivables 6 - 4,913 

Trade and other payables 12-13 23 7 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 24:- INTERESTED AND RELATED PARTIES (CONT.) 

b. Benefits to key management personnel: 

1. Compensation to key management personnel: 

Year ended December 31, 
2020 2019 2018 

No. of key 
managers 

NIS in 
thousands 

No. of key 
managers 

NIS in 
thousands 

No. of key 
managers 

NIS in 
thousands 

Post-employment 
benefits (1) 1 - 1 14 1 13 

Share-based payment 
(2) 20 5,330 20 5,330 19 483 

(1) See also note 16. 

(2) See also note 20. 

2. Salaries and benefits to interested parties: 

Year ended December 31, 
2020 2019 2018 

No. of 
people 

NIS in 
thousands 

No. of 
people 

NIS in 
thousands 

No. of 
people 

NIS in 
thousands 

Salaries and related 
expenses paid to 
executives 2 14,323 2 15,101 2 16,437 

Salaries and related 
expenses paid to 
interested parties 1 107 1 114 21 95 

Public directors' fees 3 442 3 458 4 393 

c. Transactions with interest and related parties: 

Year ended December 31, 2020: 

Parent 
company 

Related 
parties 

NIS in thousands 

Training services - 106

Cloud computing services  - 7,944

Software testing and QA  - 8,524

Software products  - 1,175

Computer infrastructure and cloud solutions  - 1,873

Rent  - -

Call center services  - 252

Purchase of software development services  - (1,785)

Purchase of maintenance of software products services  - -
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 24:- INTERESTED AND RELATED PARTIES (Cont.) 

Year ended December 31, 2019: 

Parent 
company 

Related 
parties 

NIS in thousands 

Training services - 128

Cloud computing services - 5,807

Software testing and QA - 6,256

Software products - 842

Computer infrastructure and cloud solutions - 567

Rent - 8

Call center services - 519

Purchase of software development services - (2,530)

Purchase of maintenance of software products services - (43)

Year ended December 31, 2018: 

Parent 
company 

Related 
parties 

NIS in thousands 

Training services - 88
Software testing and QA - 6,471
software products - 1,115
Computer infrastructure and cloud solutions 105 2,492
Purchase of software development services - (1,843)
Purchase of maintenance of software products services - (35)

NOTE 25:- OPERATING SEGMENTS 

a. General: 

The Company operates through subsidiaries in the following segments: 

- Information Technologies (IT) Software solutions and services, Consulting & 

Management in Israel. 

- Information Technologies (IT) Software solutions and services in US. 

- Training and implementation. 

- Computer infrastructure and cloud solutions. 

- Software product marketing and support. 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 25:- OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont.) 

Information Technologies (IT) Software solutions and services, Consulting & Management 

in Israel. 

Operations in this area focus mainly on the development of large-scale technological 

systems and the provision of related services, including consulting and management, 

integration of computer and software, integration projects, outsourcing, software project 

management, software development, software testing and QA. In addition, the activities in 

this area include management consulting services and multi-disciplinary operational and 

engineering consulting, including supervision of complex engineering projects, all 

according to the specific needs of the customer, and in accordance with the professional 

expertise required in each case. 

Information Technologies (IT) Software solutions and services in US. 

Activities in this area include the provision of solutions and services to experts in the GRC 

field including risk management, fraud prevention, anti-money laundering, trade 

surveillance, and regulatory compliance security, as well as, specialized advisory services 

in the area of compliance with financial regulation and operational services. Regulation 

through the RPA Robotic Processing Automation (RPA) tool through the subsidiary Matrix 

IFS. In addition, the activity in this area includes the provision of specialized technological 

solutions and services in the areas of: BI, Data Base Administration (DBA), CRM 

(Customer Relation Management), and EIM Enterprise Information Management. In 

addition, the activity in this segment includes: 

dedicated solutions for the GovCon Government contracting market, IT HELP DESK 

services specializing in healthcare, and software distribution services, especially IBM 

products as well as BMC and Atlassian for public-government clients in the United States 

(through its subsidiary RightStar).The company also established, as part of this area of 

activity, an Activity Center in the field of Software for Managing processes and documents 

for the provision of 3D printing services (3D PRINTING) in general, and in the field of 

medicine in particular based on an owned software. The operations in this segment are 

carried out through the subsidiaries Matrix IFS, Xtivia and their subsidiaries. 

Training and implementation: 

The Group's activities in this segment consist of operating a network of high-tech training 

and instruction centers which provide application courses, professional training courses 

and advanced professional studies in the high-tech industry, courses of soft skills and 

management training and provision of training and implementation of computer systems 

directly in institutions. 

Computer infrastructure and cloud solutions: 

The company's activities is primarily providing computer solutions to computer and 

communications infrastructures, marketing and sale of computers and peripheral 

equipment to business customers, providing related services, and cloud computing 

solutions (through the business specializing unit of the Company - Cloud Zone) and a 

myriad of services regarding Database services and Big data services ( through the 

specialized business unit Data zone). 

- 84 -



MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 25:- OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont.) 

Software product marketing and support: 

This area is mainly software distribution (mostly from abroad) and provide professional 

support for these products to customers, including marketing and maintenance of software 

products in various fields. 

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those presented in Note 

2. 

b. Geographic Information 

Revenues reported in the financial statements derive from the Company's country of 

domicile (Israel) and foreign countries based on the location of the customers, are as 

follows: 

Year ended December 31, 
2020 2019 2018 

NIS in thousands 

Israel 3,447,379 3,162,575 2,723,177 
Abroad 406,662 433,720 444,848 

3,854,041 3,596,295 3,168,025 

The carrying amounts of fixed assets (property, plant and equipment and intangible assets) 

in the Company's country of domicile (Israel) and in foreign countries based on the location 

of the assets, are as follows: 

Year ended December 31, 
2020 2019 

NIS in thousands 

Israel 886,514 790,515
Abroad 276,557 287,598

1,163,071 1,078,113 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 25:- OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont.) 

c. Reporting on operating segments: 

Year ended December 31, 2020 
IT Software 

solutions and 
services, 

Consulting & 
Management in 

Israel. 
Training and 

implementation 

Software 
product 

marketing 
and support 

Computer 
infrastructure 

and cloud 
solutions 

IT Software 
solutions and 
services, in 

US. Adjustments Total 
NIS in thousands 

Revenues from external 
customers 2,308,913 141,950 190,577 854,291 358,310 - 3,854,041 

Inter-segment revenues 76,877 12,706 13,125 37,660 33 (140,401) -

Revenues 2,385,790 154,656 203,702 891,951 358,343 (140,401) 3,854,041 

Depreciation and 
amortization 89,894 12,462 1,822 13,086 7,502 - 124,766 

Segment operating results 155,150 14,353 26,560 44,054 61,464 (12,448) 289,133 
Financial expenses (42,202) 

Taxes on income (56,081) 

Net income 190,850 

Year ended December 31, 2019 
IT Software 

solutions and 
services, 

Consulting & 
Management in 

Israel. 
Training and 

implementation 

Software 
product 

marketing 
and support 

Computer 
infrastructure 

and cloud 
solutions 

IT Software 
solutions and 
services, in 

US. Adjustments Total 
NIS in thousands 

Revenues from external 
customers 2,262,801 163,796 183,774 601,897 384,027 - 3,596,295 

Inter-segment revenues 67,878 14,989 10,909 37,529 2,947  (134,252) -

Revenues 2,330,679 178,785 194,683 639,426 386,974  (134,252) 3,596,295 

Depreciation and 
amortization 87,782 9,354 5,506 12,265 9,070 - 123,977 

Segment operating results 127,392 17,934 21,672 28,294 65,751 (6,300) 254,743 
Financial expenses (41,793) 

Financial income 489 
Our share in associate 

gains 90 
Taxes on income (46,620) 

Net income 166,909 
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MATRIX IT LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 25:- OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont.) 

Year ended December 31, 2018 
IT Software 

solutions and 
services, 

Consulting & 
Management in 

Israel. 
Training and 

implementation 

Software 
product 

marketing 
and support 

Computer 
infrastructure 

and icloud 
solutions 

IT Software 
solutions and 
services, in 

US. Adjustments Total 
NIS in thousands 

Revenues from external 
customers 1,923,319 163,672 154,490 529,685 396,859 - 3,168,025 

Inter-segment revenues 55,589 13,354 16,548 26,997 - (112,488) -

Revenues 1,978,908 177,026 171,038 556,682 396,859  (112,488) 3,168,025 

Depreciation and 
amortization 20,710 2,153 644 707 6,538 - 30,752 

Segment operating results 100,239 18,149 24,506 23,990 57,686 (3,992) 220,578 

Financial expenses (30,368) 
Financial income 1,325 
Our share in associate 

gains 17 

Taxes on income (47,309) 

Net income 144,243 
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